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I.

INTRODUCTION
When we consider the nature and the theory of our
institutions of government, the principles upon which
they are supposed to rest, and review the history of their
development, we are constrained to conclude that they do
not mean to leave room for the play and action of purely
personal and arbitrary power.

Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 369–70 (1886).
This civil action, brought to obtain prospective declaratory and injunctive
relief, seeks the aid of this Court to restore the sovereignty of the people of
Georgia over their own elections. With the adoption of Senate Bill 202 (Act 9), the
government of the State of Georgia has not only imposed burdens on the
constitutional rights of individual voters, but it has also subordinated a previously
accountable system of election administration by local officials to the arbitrary
powers of a single state agency, the State Election Board (the “SEB”)—an agency
that is both newly empowered to intervene in and take over the local conduct of
elections and (what is worse) newly insulated, by statutory design, from any
effective external source of timely oversight capable of constraining its abuses.
Liberty requires at least three essential things—an unfettered right to vote,
freedom of speech, and the meaningful separation of powers. This lawsuit is
necessary to preserve individual constitutional rights, and constitutional
government, against the attacks that SB202 makes on these three pillars of liberty.

1
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First, the right to vote has long been recognized as a fundamental political right
because voting is “preservative of all rights.” Id. at 370. Voting is a civil right
whose exercise excuses the coercion that is inherent in all governance by granting
to government the legitimacy of being a true agent of the people, selected by the
people, “by whom and for whom all government exists and acts.” Id. Voting also
serves as the most reliable mechanism for checking and reversing abuses by
government and for imposing accountability.
But voting does not occur in a vacuum. Elections are organized events that
permit the right to vote to be exercised within “reasonable and uniform regulations,
in regard to the time and mode of exercising that right, which are designed to
secure and facilitate the exercise of such right, in a prompt, orderly, and convenient
manner.” Id. at 371. When the administration of elections is made susceptible to
arbitrary and unaccountable intrusions that can be accomplished by the State
Election Board without it according any of the constitutionally required minima of
procedural due process, the individual right to vote is degraded and the legitimacy
of the government that elections produce is inevitably diminished. Senate Bill 202
imposes unjustified—and constitutionally unjustifiable—burdens on voters’ right
to vote, and on local officials’ rights to procedural due process, that must be
enjoined.

2
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Second, the freedom of speech is not only is an individual liberty, but also
an essential requirement for any system of elections that is designed to produce a
government that represents the people and purports to operate with the consent of
the governed.
Whatever differences may exist about interpretations of
the First Amendment, there is practically universal
agreement that a major purpose of that Amendment was
to protect the free discussion of governmental affairs.
This of course includes discussions of candidates,
structures and forms of government, the manner in which
government is operated or should be operated, and all
such matters relating to political processes.
Mills v. Alabama, 384 U.S. 214, 218–19 (1966). Senate Bill 202 burdens activities
protected by the First Amendment freedoms of speech and association with the
specter of potential criminal prosecution in ways that cannot be justified. “It is not
merely the sporadic abuse of power by the censor but the pervasive threat inherent
in its very existence that constitutes the danger to freedom of discussion.”
Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88, 97 (1940). These burdens must not be allowed
to stand if the individual rights of the plaintiffs, and of other Georgians, are to be
respected and if Georgia’s elections are to be called fair and free.
Finally, the essential role of separation of powers in protecting the people’s
sovereignty over their government has been recognized since the founding of the
Nation. As James Madison noted in Federalist No. 51,

3
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In framing a government which is to be administered by
men over men, the great difficulty lies in this: you must
first enable the government to control the governed; and
in the next place oblige it to control itself. A dependence
on the people is, no doubt, the primary control on the
government; but experience has taught mankind the
necessity of auxiliary precautions.
Madison further observed that, “[T]he great security against a gradual
concentration of the several powers in the same department, consists in giving to
those who administer each department the necessary constitutional means and
personal motives to resist encroachments of the others.”
In Georgia, in the context of elections, the separation of powers has, until
now, been manifested in the local control of elections and in state constitutional
prohibitions on a single body simultaneously exercising more than one of the
legislative, judicial, and executive powers. Ga. Const. Art. I, § II, Para. III. Senate
Bill 202 destroys these components of the State’s regime of separated powers by
eliminating them as safeguards for the administration of Georgia’s elections. The
offensive provisions of the law that accomplish this destruction of the
constitutional order must be enjoined to preserve accountability and transparency
in Georgia’s elections.
Specifically, the following provisions of SB202 are challenged in this action
and require relief from this Court:

4
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• Provisions of SB202 that allow the SEB to remove county boards of
elections and to take complete control of county election management by
appointing an individual superintendent selected by the SEB. These
“Takeover Provisions” are being challenged because (a) per COUNT I, they
violate the Plaintiff Board Members’ procedural due process rights under the
Fourteenth Amendment, (b) per COUNT II, they violate the Separation of
Powers Clause of the Georgia Constitution and the Georgia Constitution’s
requirement that the General Assembly provide by law for the registration of
all eligible voters, and hence constitute a violation of the Due Process Clause
of the Fourteenth Amendment, and (c) per COUNT III, they constitute a
burden on voting that is not justified by any sufficiently weighty government
interest in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment;
• O.C.G.A. § 21-2-568.1 (the “Elector Observation Felony”) which makes it a
felony to “intentionally observe an elector while casting a ballot in a manner
that would allow such person to see for whom or what the elector is voting,”
a difficult experience to avoid because of the large touchscreen displays of
voters’ votes in the polling place. This provision violates the Due Process
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment because (a) per COUNT IV, it is void
for vagueness, (b) per COUNT V, it constitutes a burden on voting that is

5
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not justified by any sufficiently weighty government interest, and (c) per
COUNT VI, it constitutes unlawful intimidation in violation of 52 U.S.C. §
10307;
• The Gag Rule, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-386(a)(2)(B)(vii), which makes it a
misdemeanor for “monitors and observers” to communicate, among other
things, “any information that they see while monitoring the processing and
scanning of absentee ballots.” Per COUNT VII, this provision violates the
First Amendment by criminalizing constitutionally protected speech;
• The Estimating Ban, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-386(a)(2)(B)(vii), which makes it a
misdemeanor for “monitors and observers” to, among other things, tally,
tabulate, estimate or attempt to tally, tabulate, or estimate any votes on the
absentee ballots cast. Per COUNT VIII, this provision violates the Due
Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment as it is void for vagueness;
• The Photography Ban, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-568.2 (2)(B), which makes it a
misdemeanor to “[p]hotograph or record the face of an electronic ballot
marker while a ballot is being voted or while an elector’s votes are displayed
on such electronic market,” or to “[p]hotograph or record a voted ballot.”
This provision is being challenged because (a) per COUNT IX, it violates
the First Amendment because it criminalizes constitutionally protected

6
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speech and (b) per COUNT X, it violates the Due Process Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment as void for vagueness;
• O.C.G.A. § 21-2-381(a)(1)(C)(i), the “Relaxed Voter ID Rule,” which
changes the identification that voters must provide to be issued an absentee
ballot from a verifiable signature to the voter’s name, date of birth, address,
and voter’s Georgia driver’s license or identification number – all
information that is publicly available. This provision is challenged because,
per COUNT XI, the new identification requirements and relaxed security
processes invite massive fraud and vote dilution as well as identity theft, and
hence constitute a burden on the right to vote that is not justified by any
sufficiently weighty government interest in violation of the Due Process
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment; and
• O.C.G.A. § 21-2-381(a)(1)(A), the “Impractical Application Deadline
Provision,” which narrows the time within which a voter may apply for an
absentee ballot to a period ranging only from 78 to 11 days prior to election
day, rendering absentee voting impossible for many run-off elections, and
restricts the actual application time further because there is currently no
secure electronic transmission method as required by SB202. The
imposition of this deadline for obtaining an absentee ballot is being
challenged (a) because, per COUNT XII, it constitutes a burden on the right

7
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to vote that is not justified by any sufficiently weighty government interest
in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and
(b) because, per COUNTS XIII AND XIV, it treats identified classes of
voters differently than other, similarly situated votes, and therefore
constitutes a violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment.
The foregoing offensive provisions of SB202 should and must be enjoined
by this Court individually and collectively to ensure that three essential pillars of
liberty—the fundamental right to vote, freedom of speech, association and press,
and separation of powers—together with the sovereignty of the people of Georgia
over their government, continue to be preserved in the State of Georgia.
II.

PARTIES
A.

Plaintiffs

1.

Plaintiffs include non-profit organizations, county election board

members, members of political parties, voters, election volunteers, advocates and
journalists. Each of the Plaintiffs is introduced below, with additional information
about each set forth in Part VI – Specific Allegations of Threatened Injury to
Plaintiffs.
2.

Plaintiff COALITION FOR GOOD GOVERNANCE (“CGG”) is a

non-profit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
8
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Colorado. Plaintiff CGG’s purpose is to preserve and advance the constitutional
liberties and individual civil rights of United States citizens, with an emphasis on
the civil rights of its members that are exercised through their participation in
public elections, and access to information about government activities through
public meetings and public records. Plaintiff CGG is a membership organization,
with a membership that consists of both individuals and other non-profit
organizations, residing in Georgia and other States.
3.

Plaintiff ADAM SHIRLEY (“SHIRLEY”) is a resident of Athens-

Clarke County, Georgia, a member of the Athens-Clarke County Board of
Elections and Registration (the “Athens-Clarke County Board”), and a member of
CGG.
4.

Plaintiff ANTWAN LANG (“LANG”) is a resident of Chatham

County, Georgia, a member of the Chatham County Board of Elections (the
“Chatham County Board”), and a member of CGG.
5.

Plaintiff PATRICIA PULLAR (“PULLAR”) is a resident of Clayton

County, Georgia, a member of the Clayton County Board of Elections and
Registration (the “Clayton County Board”), and a member of CGG.
6.

Plaintiff ERNESTINE THOMAS-CLARK (“THOMAS-CLARK”) is

a resident of Coffee County, Georgia, and a member of the Board of Elections
and Registration of Coffee County (the “Coffee County Board”).

9
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7.

Plaintiff JUDY MCNICHOLS (“MCNICHOLS”) is a resident of

Jackson County, Georgia, a member of the Jackson County Board of Elections and
Voter Registration (the “Jackson County Board”), and a member of CGG.
8.

Plaintiff JACKSON COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE

(“JCDC”) is a political party committee. Plaintiff JCDC nominates two members
for appointment to the Jackson County Board.
9.

Plaintiff GEORGIA ADVANCING PROGRESS POLITICAL

ACTION COMMITTEE (“GAPPAC”) is a non-profit organization. Plaintiff
GAPPAC is a membership organization with the purpose of increasing the election
of Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders (“AAPI”) to public offices in Georgia and
advocating for the interests of AAPI voters.
10.

Plaintiff RYAN GRAHAM (“GRAHAM”) is a resident of Fulton

County, Georgia. Plaintiff GRAHAM is Chair of the Libertarian Party of Georgia
(“LPG”).
11.

Plaintiff RHONDA MARTIN (“MARTIN”) is a resident of Fulton

County, Georgia. Plaintiff MARTIN, a frequent poll watcher and mail ballot
monitor, is on the Board of CGG.
12.

Plaintiff JEANNE DUFORT (“DUFORT”) is a resident of Morgan

County, Georgia, a Vice-Chair of the Morgan County Democratic Committee

10
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(“MCDC”), and a member of CGG. Plaintiff DUFORT is a frequent poll watcher,
mail ballot monitor, and vote review panelist.
13.

Plaintiff AILEEN NAKAMURA (“NAKAMURA”) is a resident of

Fulton County, Georgia. Plaintiff NAKAMURA, a frequent poll watcher, is a
member of CGG and GAPPAC.
14.

Plaintiff ELIZABETH THROOP (“THROOP”) is a resident of

DeKalb County, Georgia. Plaintiff THROOP, a frequent poll watcher and mail
ballot monitor, is a member of CGG.
15.

Plaintiff BRADLEY FRIEDMAN (“FRIEDMAN”) is a radio

broadcaster, journalist, and blogger, and has reported on Georgia election integrity
and election security hundreds of times over the last almost twenty years. Plaintiff
FRIEDMAN publishes his blog, BradBlog.com (“The BRAD BLOG”), and hosts
his weekday nationally syndicated radio show, “The BradCast.”
B.

Defendants—Members of the State Election Board
Voting Members of the State Election Board

16.

Defendants DAVID J. WORLEY, REBECCA N. SULLIVAN, ANH

LE, and MATTHEW MASHBURN are sued for prospective declaratory and
injunctive relief in their official capacities as voting members of Georgia’s State
Election Board (the “SEB”). At the appropriate time, Plaintiffs will join as a
defendant the yet-unappointed Chair of Georgia’s State Election Board. Together

11
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with any successors in office automatically substituted for any of them as
Defendants by operation of Fed. R. Civ. P. 25(d), Defendants WORLEY,
SULLIVAN, LE, and MASHBURN are hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“SEB Voting Members.”
17.

The SEB Voting Members collectively exercise the power vested in

the SEB to enforce compliance with the Georgia Election Code, including the
unconstitutional takeover provisions of SB202 that are challenged in this lawsuit.
See O.C.G.A. §§ 21-2-33.1, -32.
Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger
18.

Defendant BRAD RAFFENSPERGER (“RAFFENSPERGER”) is

Georgia’s Secretary of State. RAFFENSPERGER, including any successor in
office automatically substituted for him as a Defendant by operation of Fed. R.
Civ. P. 25(d), is sued in his official capacities as Secretary of State and as a nonvoting member of the SEB for prospective declaratory and injunctive relief.
19.

As Secretary of State, Defendant RAFFENSPERGER is a non-voting,

ex officio member of the SEB, O.C.G.A. § 21–2–30(d) (2021), and “shall, upon
request of the State Election Board, provide any and all necessary support and
assistance that the State Election Board, in its sole discretion, determines is
necessary to enforce [the Georgia Election Code] or to carry out or conduct any of
its duties,” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.1(h) (2021).

12
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III.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
20.

Plaintiffs bring this action under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988 to

redress threatened deprivations, under color of state law, of rights secured by the
United States Constitution.
21.

This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over each of the prospective

claims for declaratory and injunctive relief raised in this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction), § 1343 (jurisdiction over civil rights
actions), § 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction), § 2201 (jurisdiction to grant
declaratory relief) and § 2202 (jurisdiction to grant relief ancillary to declaratory
judgment).
22.

Venue lies in the Northern District of Georgia pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1391(b) because multiple defendants reside in this judicial district and all
defendants are residents of Georgia and a substantial part of the events or
omissions giving rise to the Plaintiffs’ claims occurred or are threatened to occur in
this judicial district.
IV.

APPLICABLE LAW
A.

United States Constitution
Due Process Clause

23.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United

States Constitution provides that no State shall “deprive any person of life, liberty,
or property, without due process of law.”
13
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Substantive Due Process / Fundamental Right to Vote
24.

Fundamental rights such as the right to vote may not be unjustifiably

burdened or undermined without violating the substantive protections of the Due
Process Clause.
25.

The right of all eligible citizens to vote in public elections is a

fundamental right of individuals.
26.

“[S]tate laws and patterns of state action that systematically deny

equality in voting,” Burton v. Georgia, 953 F.2d 1266, 1269 (11th Cir. 1992), and
“state laws whose very design infringes on the rights of voters,” Curry v. Baker,
802 F.2d 1302, 1314 (11th Cir. 1986), violate substantive due process.
27.

In addition, “episodic events that, despite non-discriminatory laws

may result in the dilution of an individual’s vote” and which “go well beyond the
ordinary dispute over the counting and marking of ballots” also violate substantive
due process “if the election process itself reaches the point of patent and
fundamental unfairness.” Curry v. Baker, 802 F.2d 1302, 1314 (11th Cir. 1986).
28.

Conditioning the right to vote on a voter’s consent to public disclosure

of sensitive personal information, i.e. “to consent to the possibility of a profound
invasion of privacy when exercising the fundamental right to vote,” substantially
burdens the fundamental right to vote in violation of substantive due process.
Greidinger v. Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993).

14
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Substantive Due Process / Violation of State Law
29.

Violations of state statutory or constitutional law implicating the very

integrity of the electoral process constitute a denial of substantive due process
under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Gonzalez v. Governor
of Georgia, 978 F.3d 1266, 1271 (11th Cir. 2020); Duncan v. Poythress, 657 F.2d
691 (5th Cir. 1981).
Procedural Due Process
30.

The Due Process Clause also protects individuals against the

deprivation or abrogation by a State of underlying substantive liberty and property
interests without the use of procedures that satisfy “constitutionally mandated due
process minima.” McKinney v. Pate, 20 F.3d 1550, 1561 (11th Cir. 1994).
31.

The liberty protected by the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process

Clause encompasses:
the right of the individual to contract, to engage in any of
the common occupations of life, to acquire useful
knowledge, to marry, establish a home and bring up
children, to worship God according to the dictates of his
own conscience, and generally to enjoy those privileges
long recognized at common law as essential to the
orderly pursuit of happiness by free men.
Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399 (1923). The right to seek a public office—
and to hold that office, once it has been obtained—is such a liberty interest. Becton
v. Thomas, 48 F. Supp. 2d 747, 757 (W.D. Tenn. 1999).

15
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32.

“The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be

heard and it is an ‘opportunity which must be granted at a meaningful time and in a
meaningful manner.’” Parratt v. Taylor, 451 U.S. 527, 540 (1981).
33.

“It is axiomatic that, in general, the Constitution requires that the state

provide fair procedures and an impartial decisionmaker before infringing on a
person's interest in life, liberty, or property.” McKinney v. Pate, 20 F.3d 1550,
1561 (11th Cir. 1994).
34.

Predeprivation procedures are fair for purposes of the Due Process

Clause if they “require predeprivation notice and hearing in order to serve as a
check on the possibility that a wrongful deprivation would occur.” Parratt v.
Taylor, 451 U.S. at 538.
35.

Where adequate predeprivation process is impossible or impracticable

for a State to provide, procedural due process may instead be satisfied by the State
affording individuals a postdeprivation “means of redress for property deprivations
satisfying the requirements of procedural due process.” Parratt v. Taylor, 451 U.S.
at 537.
36.

The Fifth Amendment’s guarantee of procedural due process also

protects against laws that are “so vague that [the law] fails to give ordinary people
fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary

16
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enforcement.” United States v. Matchett, 837 F.3d 1118, 1140 (11th Cir. 2016)
(citing Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591, 595 (2015)).
Due Process – Criminal Laws Void for Vagueness
37.

Under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, a state

penal statute must “define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that
ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that
does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.” Kolender v.
Lawson, 461 U.S. 352 (1983). “Where the legislature fails to provide such
minimal guidelines, a criminal statute may permit ‘a standardless sweep [that]
allows policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections.’”
Id. (citation omitted).
Equal Protection Clause
38.

The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the

United States Constitution provides that, “[N]or shall any State . . . deny to any
person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” U.S. Const.
Amend. XIV.
39.

“The right to vote is protected in more than the initial allocation of the

franchise. Equal protection applies as well to the manner of its exercise. Having
once granted the right to vote on equal terms, the State may not, by later arbitrary

17
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and disparate treatment, value one person’s vote over that of another.” Bush v.
Gore, 531 U.S. 98, 104-05 (2000).
40.

The Equal Protection Clause is violated when similarly situated

people are treated differently without constitutionally adequate justification.
First Amendment
41.

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that,

“Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech . . . or the right
of the people . . . to petition the government for a redress of grievances.” U.S.
Const. Amend. I.
Freedom of Speech and of the Press
42.

To be constitutional, legislative restrictions on speech that “depend on

what is said” are “content-based restrictions” that “receive strict scrutiny” and must
be “narrowly tailored to serve compelling state interests.” Otto v. City of Boca
Raton, 981 F.3d 854, 861 (11th Cir. 2020). “Laws or regulations almost never
survive this demanding test . . . . Forbidding the government from choosing
favored and disfavored messages is at the core of the First Amendment's freespeech guarantee.” Id. at 862.
43.

“The freedom of speech and of the press guaranteed by the

Constitution embraces at the least the liberty to discuss publicly and truthfully all
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matters of public concern without previous restraint or fear of
subsequent punishment.” Thornhill, 310 U.S. at 101–02.
Right to Petition the Government
44.

“The First Amendment right to petition the government for a redress

of grievances includes a right of access to the courts.” DeMartini v. Town of Gulf
Stream, 942 F.3d 1277, 1288 (11th Cir. 2019); see also Bill Johnson’s Rests. v.
NLRB, 461 U.S. 731, 741 (1983).
45.

Interfering with a person’s freedom to invoke the judicial process

violates the right of access to the courts. Robles v. Kane, 550 F. App'x 784, 787
(11th Cir. 2013).
B.

Federal Laws Providing Causes of Action
42 U.S.C. § 1983

46.

Section 1983 provides in pertinent part that,
Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance,
regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or
the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be
subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person
within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any
rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the
Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured
in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper
proceeding for redress[.]

42 U.S.C. § 1983.
Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10307
47.

Section 10307 provides:
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No person, whether acting under color of law or
otherwise, shall intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or attempt
to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for voting or
attempting to vote. . . .
52 U.S.C. §10307.
Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201
48.

The Declaratory Judgment Act provides in pertinent part that,
In a case of actual controversy within its jurisdiction, . . .
any court of the United States, upon the filing of an
appropriate pleading, may declare the rights and other
legal relations of any interested party seeking such
declaration, whether or not further relief is or could be
sought. Any such declaration shall have the force and
effect of a final judgment or decree and shall be
reviewable as such.

28 U.S.C. § 2201(a).
C.

Georgia Constitution

49.

The Georgia Constitution provides that, “Legislative acts in violation

of [the Georgia] Constitution or the Constitution of the United States are void, and
the judiciary shall so declare them.” Ga. Const. Art. I. § II, Para. V (2021).
Georgia’s Requirement of Absolute Ballot Secrecy
50.

The Georgia Constitution provides: “Elections by the people shall be

by secret ballot.” Ga. Const. Art. II, § I, Para. 1.
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Georgia’s Guarantee of Right to the Courts
51.

The Georgia Constitution provides that, “No person shall be deprived

of the right to prosecute or defend, either in person or by an attorney, that person's
own cause in any of the courts of this state.” Ga. Const. Art. I, § I, Para. XII.
Separation of Powers
52.

The Georgia Constitution provides that, “The legislative, judicial, and

executive powers shall forever remain separate and distinct; and no person
discharging the duties of one shall at the same time exercise the functions of either
of the others except as herein provided.” Ga. Const. Art. I, § II, Para. III.
53.

“A statute will be held unconstitutional as an improper delegation of

legislative power if it is incomplete as legislation and authorizes an executive
board to decide what shall and what shall not be an infringement of the law,
because any statute which leaves the authority to a ministerial officer to define the
thing to which the statute is to be applied is invalid.” Howell v. State, 237 Ga. 95,
95 (1976).
D.

Georgia Election Code
Role of Superintendents

54.

The General Assembly creates county boards of elections and boards

of election and registration by local Act. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–40. All such boards
must have at least three members. Id. Such boards conduct their duties in public
and operate under Georgia’s Open Meetings laws. O.C.G.A § 50-14-1.
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55.

Under the Georgia Election Code, elections in counties and

municipalities are conducted by “superintendents.” O.C.G.A § 21–2–70 to –77.
56.

Under the Georgia Election Code, boards of registration conduct voter

registration and issue absentee ballots. O.C.G.A. §21-2-212. In most counties
(approximately 119), the duties of the election superintendent and the board of
registration are combined into one board with the duties of elections and
registration.
57.

For counties, prior to the enactment of SB202, “superintendent”

meant, “Either the judge of the probate court of a county or the county board of
elections, the county board of elections and registration, the joint city-county board
of elections, or the joint city-county board of elections and registration, if a county
has such.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–2(35)(A) (2020).
58.

Each board created by local Act to serve as a superintendent is an

authority created by state law and thus has a separate identity as an instrumentality
of the state and is a public corporation. See O.C.G.A. § 50–4–3(c).
59.

For Georgia’s larger counties, a superintendent board typically

consists of a collection of individuals who are separately appointed to the board for
fixed terms by different stakeholders. The stakeholders typically include both
major political parties as well as the governing body of the county. In some
counties, a Superior Court judge must appoint one or more members of the county
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board. The superintendent board is therefore generally not a creature of the
county’s elected governing authority.
60.

In Athens-Clarke County, for example, the Board of Elections

consists of five individual board members, each of whom serves a four-year
term—one member appointed by the Athens-Clarke County Republican
Committee, one by the Athens-Clarke County Democratic Committee, and three
by the Athens-Clarke County Commission.1
61.

In Fulton County, the Fulton County Board of Registration and

Elections (“Fulton County Board”) consists of five individuals who are appointed
slightly differently: Republicans appoint two members, Democrats appoint two
members, and the Fulton County Board of Commissioners appoints one member,
who serves as the chair.
62.

In Chatham County, the Chatham County Board of Elections

(“Chatham County Board”) consists of four elected members (two from each major
party), and the chair is appointed by the four elected members. The separate
Chatham County Board of Registrars, responsible for voter registration and
absentee ballot issuance, is a five-member non-partisan board nominated by a
grand jury and appointed by the Superior Court under O.C.G.A. § 21-2-212.

1

See Board of Elections Members, https://www.accgov.com/249/Board-ofElections-Members (last visited May 14, 2021).
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63.

Boards of registrars conduct voter registration activities, update voter

records, accept and approve absentee ballot applications and issue absentee mail
ballots. As noted above, most counties combine the duties of registration and
election in a single board, while others (fewer than 40) maintain separate boards of
registration.
64.

Georgia law does not provide a general mechanism to be used for the

removal of entire boards acting as election “superintendents” or registrars. Instead,
the local Acts that create these boards typically establish, on a jurisdiction-byjurisdiction basis, a mechanism for individual members of the board to be
removed, generally only for cause, and after judicial review. For example, the
local Act establishing the Athens-Clarke County Board of Elections and
Registration provides that, “All members shall be subject to removal from the
board at any time for cause after notice and hearing, in the same manner and by the
same authority as provided for removal of registrars.” 1993 Ga. Act 216, § 5(c);
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–212(a) (member of the board of registration (“registrars”) can be
removed by a superior court judge “at any time for cause after notice and
hearing”). Similarly, the local Act establishing the Board of Elections and
Registration of Jackson County provides that, “Each member of the board . . . shall
be subject to removal from the board by the chief judge of the Superior Court of
Jackson County at any time, for cause, after notice and hearing.” 2011 Ga. Act 34,
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§ 6. Elected Chatham County Board of Elections members can be removed only
for cause and after a jury trial. 1984 Ga. Law No. 1194 § 2(g) and O.C.G.A. 15-682(c).
65.

Both before and after the enactment of SB202, Georgia law provided

several ways for the SEB to compel superintendents to comply with the Georgia’s
Election Code, including by issuing orders, assessing fines, entering public
reprimands, requiring restitution, requiring superintendents and others to attend
training, and taxing a superintendents and others with the costs incurred by the
SEB as part of such enforcement actions. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.1(a) (2020).
66.

Where these measures are not sufficient, Georgia law also permits the

SEB to seek judicial relief against a superintendent in the superior court of any
county in which fraud or other illegal conduct has occurred or is likely to occur.
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–32(a) (2020). In such judicial actions brought or intervened in by
the SEB,
If, in the opinion of the judge presiding over such cause,
adequate relief cannot otherwise be granted to assure
compliance with said laws, rules, and regulations, the
judge may enter such order concerning the conduct of
such election or primary which he or she shall deem
necessary to assure compliance, including the right to
require such election or primary to be held under the
supervision of the State Election Board.
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–32(f) (2020).
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Funding of Superintendents
67.

Georgia law provides that,
The governing authority of each county or municipality
shall appropriate annually and from time to time, to the
superintendent of such county or municipality, the funds
that it shall deem necessary for the conduct of primaries
and elections in such county or municipality and for the
performance of his or her other duties under this
chapter[.]

O.C.G.A. § 21–2–71.
Conduct of Absentee-by-Mail Voting—Pre-SB202
68.

SB202 made changes to the Georgia Election Code’s provision

governing the conduct of absentee-by-mail voting.
69.

Prior to the enactment of SB202, Georgia voters could apply for an

absentee-by-mail ballot up to 180 days before the date of a primary, election, or
runoff, and no application deadline was specifically stated, having the effect of
permitting voters with unforeseen last-minute circumstances preventing them from
voting at the polling place to apply for absentee ballots. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
381(a)(1)(A) (2020).
70.

Prior to the enactment of SB202, a valid absentee ballot application

required “sufficient information for proper identification of the elector; the
permanent or temporary address of the elector to which the absentee ballot shall be
mailed; the identity of the primary, election, or runoff in which the elector wishes
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to vote; and the name and relationship of the person requesting the ballot if other
than the elector” and the voter’s mark or signature. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–381(a)(1)(C)
(2020), (F).
71.

Prior to the enactment of SB202, a voter’s eligibility to be issued an

absentee ballot required the registrar or absentee ballot clerk to compare “the
identifying information on the application with the information on file in the
registrar’s office and, if the application is signed by the elector, compare the
signature or mark of the elector on the application with the signature or mark of the
elector on the elector's voter registration card.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–381(b)(1)
(2020). Prior to the enactment of SB202, absentee ballot applicants were not
required to provide a Georgia driver license number or other state issued
identification number in combination with a full date of birth to be eligible to be
issued an absentee ballot, and the application was previously verified using the
voter’s individual signature or mark on file. Signatures are the long-accepted,
most secure standard for voter verification, used in at least 32 states, and three
more states require witness signatures.
72.

Prior to the enactment of SB202, issued absentee ballots could be

mailed to voters by the registrars or absentee ballot clerk as late as two days prior
to election day. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–384(a)(2) (2020).
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Conduct of In-Person Voting
73.

Both before and after the enactment of SB202, Georgia law required

that the “equipment used for casting and counting votes in county, state, and
federal elections shall be the same in each county of this state and shall be
provided to each county by the state, as determined by the Secretary of State.”
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–300(a)(1) (2020). Electronic ballot marking devices are not
required for municipal elections.
74.

The voting system furnished by the State must be “a uniform system

of electronic ballot markers and ballot scanners.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–300(a)(3)
(2020).
75.

Such “electronic ballot marker” devices — or “BMDs”— are required

to be used by in-person voters on election day and by all absentee voters casting
their ballots in person prior to election day in county, state or federal elections.
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–300(a)(2) (2020); O.C.G.A. § 21–2–383(c) (2020).
76.

O.C.G.A. § 21-2-379.22(5) provides: “No electronic ballot marker

shall be adopted or used” unless they “[p]ermit voting in absolute secrecy so that
no person can see or know any other elector’s votes.” Further, pursuant to
O.C.G.A. § 21-2-70(13), superintendents have a duty to “conduct all elections in
such manner as to guarantee the secrecy of the ballot.”
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77.

The BMDs chosen by the Secretary of State of Georgia and used

statewide are a model manufactured by Dominion Voting Systems. The system
includes a touchscreen that is so large that the electoral choices of any voter using
the BMD are plainly visible to any person with corrected eyesight within at least
twenty to thirty feet with a line of sight to the voting touchscreen, violating voters’
rights to vote in “absolute secrecy.” Because of the vulnerability of the BMD
system to hacking, and therefore the need for continual monitoring, curtains and
closed-door voting booths cannot be properly used as a privacy shield around
BMD voting stations. Wrap-around privacy shields provided by the Secretary of
State do not protect the secrecy of the voters’ choices.
78.

Figure 1 below is a true and correct copy of a photograph of voters

seen at a polling place at Varnell gymnasium on January 5, 2021, in Dalton,
Georgia, and typical of polling place setups across the state.
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Figure 1. Dalton, Georgia
Georgia’s Open Meetings Act
79.

Both before and after the enactment of SB202, superintendents were

“agencies” subject to the Georgia Open Meetings Act. O.C.G.A. § 50–14–1(a)(1)
(2020) (defining “agency” to mean, among other things, “Every . . . board, . . .
office, . . . or similar body of each such county, municipal corporation, or other
political subdivision of the state.”).
80.

Agencies subject to the Open Meetings Law may only formulate,

present, discuss, or vote upon “any official business, policy, or public matter” at a
“meeting,” which means “the gathering of a quorum of the governing body of an
agency” that is “open to the public” and that is held “after due notice of the
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meeting and compliance with the posting and agenda requirements of this chapter.”
O.C.G.A. § 50–14–1(a)(3)(A) (2020), (b)(1).
81.

“All votes at any meeting shall be taken in public after due notice of

the meeting and compliance with the posting and agenda requirements of this
chapter.” O.C.G.A. § 50–14–1(b)(1) (2020).
82.

“Any resolution, rule, regulation, ordinance, or other official action of

an agency adopted, taken, or made at a meeting which is not open to the public as
required by [the Open Meetings Act] shall not be binding.” O.C.G.A. § 50–14–
1(b)(2) (2020).
83.

“Any person who knowingly and willfully conduct[s] or participat[es]

in a meeting in violation of [the Open Meetings Act] shall be guilty of a
misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a fine not to exceed
$1,000.00.” O.C.G.A. § 50–14–6 (2020).
V.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
A.

2020 Elections Prompted Legislative Backlash

84.

SB202’s introductory Section 2 states that there was a loss of voter

confidence because of the manner in which 2020 elections were conducted,
prompting the enactment of the bill. Indeed, there may have been a loss of voter
confidence resulting from end-to-end failures in election administrative processes,
from the State’s malfunctioning voter database and pollbooks to lapses in absentee
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balloting protocols and voting system tabulation irregularities. Georgia’s 2020
election administration was heavily criticized in the press and remained a topic of
unflattering national headlines throughout most of the year.
85.

However, rather than addressing the underlying systemic deficiencies

in election administration and the voting system, the General Assembly enacted
measures in SB202 to conceal ongoing problems, muzzling the press and poll
monitors by criminalizing long-accepted norms of citizen oversight of elections.
Further, the General Assembly granted powerful authority to the SEB to seize
unilateral partisan control of locally run election and voter registration
administrations and then authorizing these public functions, upon SEB takeover, to
be conducted behind closed doors.
86.

Despite the proclamation of Section 2 (17) of SB202 that the new law

made “the changes required to Georgia’s election system to make it easy to vote
and hard to cheat,” widespread mail ballot fraud, never experienced in Georgia,
now becomes alarming easy. Yet, absentee mail ballot voting becomes impossible
for some voters because of excessively narrowed application deadlines. Most
alarming, however, is the severe curtailment of polling place voting that will be
caused by the intimidating prospect of voters being accused of a felony offense by
merely glancing around the polling place when the touchscreen voting system is in
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use. The challenged provisions have the opposite of the stated purpose; it is now
“hard to vote and easy to cheat” in Georgia.
B.

Provisions of Georgia’s Senate Bill 202 Passed in 2021

87.

On March 25, 2021, Governor Brian Kemp signed into law Senate

Bill 202 (Act 9) (“SB202”), which comprehensively revised the Georgia Election
Code. A true and correct copy of SB202, from Westlaw, is attached hereto as
Exhibit A.
SB202’s Election Takeover Provisions
88.

SB202 empowers the State Election Board to “suspend2 county or

municipal superintendents and appoint an individual to serve as the temporary
superintendent in a jurisdiction.” O.C.G.A. 21–2–33.2(f) (2021). (As used herein,
the provisions that govern the SEB’s substitution of its own individual appointee as
a superintendent, or a board of registration, or a municipality’s superintendent, are
collectively referred to as SB202’s “Takeover Provisions.”)
89.

SB202’s Takeover Provisions provide, in pertinent part, as follows:

2

SB202 uses the terms “suspend” and “suspension,” O.C.G.A. §§ 21–2–33.2
(c),(e), as well as the term “removal,” which is used to describe the initial action
after a preliminary hearing, O.C.G.A. § 21–2-106(c), and the final removal of the
suspended superintendent, O.C.G.A. §§ 21–2–33.2(e).
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(a) The takeover of a local superintendent’s responsibilities by the SEB’s
temporarily (or permanently) appointed individual superintendent is
“extraordinary relief.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(a) (2021).
Superintendent Removal Upon Petition and Performance Review
(b) The SEB may “pursue the extraordinary relief” of a takeover “following a
recommendation based on an investigation by a performance review board.”
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(a) (2021).
(c) Performance review board investigations occur either at the instigation of
the SEB upon its own motion, O.C.G.A. § 21–2–107(a) (2021), or upon a
request transmitted to the SEB by “the governing authority of the county or
municipality, as applicable,” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(a) (2021), O.C.G.A. §
21–2–106(a)(1) (2021), or by members of the jurisdiction’s state legislative
delegation. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–106(a)(2)–(3) (2021).
(d) Following its investigation, a performance review board “shall issue a
written report of its findings” that “shall include such evaluations,
judgments, and recommendations as it deems appropriate.” O.C.G.A. §§
21–2–106(b), –107(c) (2021).
Superintendent Removal Upon SEB Motion
(e) The SEB may also “pursue the extraordinary relief” of a takeover “on its
own motion.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(a) (2021). This SEB action does not
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require a performance review or even a new investigation. See O.C.G.A. §
21–2–107(d) (“the findings of . . . any audit or investigation performed by the

State Election Board may be grounds for removal of one or more local
election officials pursuant to Code Section 21-2-33.2” (emphasis added).
(f) Once the SEB has moved itself to initiate takeover proceedings against a
superintendent or received a petition from a performance review board
recommending that the SEB do so, the SEB “shall conduct a preliminary
investigation to determine if sufficient cause exists to proceed to a full
hearing on the petition.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(b) (2021).
(g) In the event that a petition for a performance review has been initiated by a
third party via petition to the SEB, the SEB’s “preliminary investigation
shall be followed by a preliminary hearing which shall take place not less
than 30 days nor more than 90 days after the Secretary of State receives the
petition.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(b) (2021). There is no stated required
notice period for a takeover action when initiated by the SEB.
(h) At the preliminary hearing, the SEB “shall determine if sufficient cause
exists to proceed to a full hearing on the petition or if the petition should be
dismissed.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(b) (2021).
(i) “Following the preliminary hearing,” (but apparently without a “full
hearing,” which the law mentions, id., but never provides for), the SEB
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“may suspend a county or municipal superintendent if at least three members
of the board find, after notice and hearing” that:
(1) By a preponderance of the evidence, a county or
municipal superintendent has committed at least three
violations of this title or of State Election Board rules and
regulations, in the last two general election cycles; and
the county or municipal superintendent has not
sufficiently remedied the violations; or
(2) By clear and convincing evidence, the county or
municipal superintendent has, for at least two elections
within a two-year period, demonstrated nonfeasance,
malfeasance, or gross negligence in the administration of
the elections.
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(c) (2021).
(j) The SEB may rely on its own findings from “any audit or investigation,” it
has conducted as grounds for removal of a “local election official.”
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–107(d) and § 21-2-106(c)(emphasis added). Alternatively,
instead of making its own findings under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(c), the SEB
may simply rely upon the findings of a performance review board as
“grounds for the removal” of “local election officials under Code Section
21–2–33.2.” O.C.G.A. §§ 21–2–106(c), –107(d) (2021).3

3

“Local election official” means a county board of elections or board of elections
and registration, a probate judge fulfilling the role of election superintendent, or a
municipal election superintendent. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–105 (2021).
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(k) “If the State Election Board makes a finding in accordance with” O.C.G.A. §
21–2–33.2(c), then the SEB “may suspend the superintendent or board of
registrars with pay and appoint an individual to serve as the temporary
superintendent,” but there is no provision for the appointment of an
individual to serve as the temporary board of registrars. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
33.2(e)(1)(2021).
(l) The individual appointed by the SEB need not possess the qualifications
ordinarily required for an election superintendent. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
33.2(e)(1) (2021) (“The temporary superintendent who is appointed shall be
otherwise qualified to serve or meet the necessary qualifications within three
months of appointment.”).
(m)

The individual appointed by the SEB:
shall exercise all the powers and duties of a
superintendent as provided by law, including the
authority to make all personnel decisions related to any
employees of the jurisdiction who assist with carrying
out the duties of the superintendent, including, but not
limited to, the director of elections, the election
supervisor, and all poll officers.

O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.1(f) (2021).
(n) “At no time shall the State Election Board suspend more than four county or
municipal superintendents.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(g) (2021).
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(o) Although SB202 refers in multiple places to the SEB’s appointee as the
“temporary superintendent,” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.1(f) (2021), –33.2(e)(1), –
33.2(e)(2), the law provides that, if the “suspended superintendent or
registrar does not petition for reinstatement within the allotted time period,
his or her suspension shall be converted into permanent removal,” at which
point the “temporary superintendent shall become a permanent
superintendent” by operation of law “subject to removal by the jurisdiction
not less than nine months after his or her appointment.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
33.2(e)(2)(2021).
(p) SB202 also implies that a mechanism exists for the “jurisdiction” to remove
“the permanent superintendent” “after the expiration of the nine-month
period following the appointment,” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(e)(3) (2021), but
there is no “jurisdiction” that could exercise such and power and SB202
creates no such mechanism.
(q) Moreover, no other provision of Georgia law establishes any process that
could plausibly be invoked to remove an SEB-appointed superintendent.
The existing provisions of law that address the removal of superintendent
board members—i.e., the local Acts that preceded SB202—generally
provide for removal only of individual members of a superintendent board,
not the entire superintendent body itself, and these provisions further only
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permit removals for cause, which is generally adjudicated by the superior
court of the county.
(r) SB202’s “permanent superintendent” thus appears to become literally a
permanent superintendent if a suspended superintendent fails to achieve
reinstatement, unless the SEB determines, “at any time after the expiration
of the nine-month period following the appointment,” “that the jurisdiction
no longer requires a superintendent appointed under this Code section,” in
which case “any provisions of local or general law governing appointment of
the superintendent shall govern the appointment of the superintendent.”
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(e)(4) (2021).
(s) The legal status of the “suspended board” is unclear given that the board is
no longer the superintendent, and a suspended board has no authority in law
to meet, make decisions, or to act.
SB202’s Election Takeover Provisions – Separately
Functioning Boards of Registration
90.

As alleged above, some counties (like Chatham) have a board of

registration that is separate from the county’s board of election.
91.

Unlike a board of election, or a combined board of election and

registration, a separate board of registration is not a “superintendent” under
Georgia law, O.C.G.A. § 21–2–2 (35) (2021), or a “local election official” under
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SB202. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–105 (2021). Thus, SB202 states that the SEB may
“suspend the superintendent or board of registrars.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(e)
(2021) (emphasis added). Though SB202 explicitly allows for the removal of a
board of registrars, it does not provide for the replacement of the board of
registration with an appointee, as it does for the replacement of a “superintendent,”
leaving no one to perform a removed board of registration’s duties. Id.
92.

The findings that the SEB must make to permit any suspension in the

first place apply only to superintendents. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(c) (2021).
Though SB202 gives the SEB the power to remove registrars, there are no
standards relating to registrars or their duties.
93.

SB202 also makes no provision for the performance of duties or the

reinstatement of a board of registration that has been removed or suspended by the
SB202. Id.
SB202’s Superintendent-Reinstatement Provisions
94.

SB202 provides that a “suspended superintendent” (but not a

suspended board of registration) may seek reinstatement as follows:
Any superintendent suspended under this Code section
may petition the State Election Board for reinstatement
no earlier than 30 days following suspension and no later
than 60 days following suspension. In the event that a
suspended superintendent or registrar does not petition
for reinstatement within the allotted time period, his or
her suspension shall be converted into permanent
removal, and the temporary superintendent shall become
40
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a permanent superintendent subject to removal by the
jurisdiction not less than nine months after his or her
appointment.
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(e)(2) (2021).
95.

If a suspended superintendent petition for reinstatement:
the State Election Board shall conduct a hearing for the
purpose of receiving evidence relative to whether the
superintendent's continued service as superintendent is
more likely than not to improve the ability of the
jurisdiction to conduct elections in a manner that
complies with this chapter.

O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(f)(2021). When this provision is invoked, the
“superintendent” will be the SEB’s appointee. In other words, the standard for
reinstatement of a “suspended superintendent” looks not to the conduct of the
suspended superintendent while in office, but rather to the continued service of the
“superintendent,” which is the SEB’s appointee.
96.

SB202 further provides that,
The suspended superintendent shall be given at least 30
days' notice prior to such hearing and such hearing shall
be held no later than 90 days after the petition is filed in
accordance with Chapter 13 of Title 50, the 'Georgia
Administrative Procedure Act,' except that the State
Election Board shall have the power to call witnesses and
request documents on its own initiative.

O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(f) (2021).
97.

Finally, SB202 provides for judicial review of the SEB’s

reinstatement decision as follows,
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If the State Election Board denies the petition, it shall be
deemed a final agency decision under Chapter 13 of Title
50, the ‘Georgia Administrative Procedure Act,’ and it
may be appealed in a manner consistent with Code
Section 50-13-19. The Attorney General or his or her
designee shall represent the interests of the State Election
Board in any such judicial review.
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(f) (2021).
98.

Judicial review under the Georgia Administrative Procedure Act takes

place in the superior court, O.C.G.A. § 50–13–19(a)-(b). But judicial review will
be impossible as a practical matter, because the suspended board of elections will
no longer be able to function legally as a public body during its “suspension” or
after its “removal.” Further, as a non-natural corporate legal person, the suspended
superintendent may only appear through licensed legal counsel, O.C.G.A. § 1519-51(a)(1), which SB202 simultaneously frustrates by prohibiting the use of
public funds for litigation and also prohibiting superintendents from receiving
private funding.
SB202’s Restrictions on Superintendent Boards’ Access to
Counsel
99.

SB202 renders completely illusory any suspended superintendent

board’s or board of registration’s ability to contest its suspension, petition for
reinstatement, and appeal a denial of reinstatement by preventing corporate
superintendents and registrars from paying for or accepting donated services of
legal counsel.
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100. SB202 prohibits any local government from expending “any public
funds for attorney fees or expenses of litigation relating to the proceedings initiated
pursuant to” the Takeover Provisions “except to the extent such fees and expenses
are incurred prior to and through the recommendation of the State Election Board
as provided in subsection (c) of this Code section[.]” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(g)
(2021).4 This language is confusing, at best, because O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(c)
contains no reference to any “recommendation” of the SEB. The clear import of
SB202’s prohibition on a local government’s use of public funds for litigation
relating to proceedings initiated pursuant to the Takeover Provisions is to bar
counties and municipalities from paying for legal counsel to advise superintendents
or registrars about and actively litigate on behalf of superintendents and registrars
(or themselves) against an SEB “takeover” of a local election board.
101. At the same time, SB202 also prohibits individual election board
members, pro bono attorneys, and outside organizations from paying for legal
work to oppose a SEB takeover by providing that, “No superintendent shall take or
accept any funding, grants, or gifts from any source other than from the governing
authority of the county or municipality, the State of Georgia, or the federal

4

SB202 provides that nothing in this prohibition “shall be construed to prohibit an
insurance provider from covering attorneys’ fees or expenses of litigation under an
insurance policy.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(g) (2021).
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government.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–71(b) (2021). A similar SB202 provision bans
boards of registration from accepting such funding. O.C.G.A. §21-2-212(f) (2021)
102. SB202 also prohibits counties and municipalities from using their
power of the purse to restrain or control the conduct of the SEB’s appointee. To
this end, SB202 provides that,
When the State Election Board exercises its authority
under subsection (f) of Code Section 21-2-33.1, the
jurisdiction involved shall not diminish or reduce the
funds already budgeted or appropriated by the
jurisdiction pursuant to Code Section 21-2-71 and shall
pay any necessary and reasonable funds over that
amount, as determined by the temporary superintendent,
to faithfully carry out their obligations under Code
Section 21-2-70.
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(i) (2021).
SB202’s Criminalization of Observing an Elector While
Casting a Vote
103. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–568.1 (2021), the Elector Observation Felony
provision, states:
(a) Except while providing authorized assistance in
voting under Code Section 21-2-409 and except for
children authorized to be in the enclosed space under
subsection (f) of Code Section 21-2-413, no person shall
intentionally observe an elector while casting a ballot in a
manner that would allow such person to see for whom or
what the elector is voting.
(b) Any person who violates the provisions of subsection
(a) of this Code section shall be guilty of a felony.
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104. Notably, long-standing Georgia law already makes it a felony to go
“into the voting compartment or voting machine booth while another is voting” or
to interfere “with any elector marking his or her ballot” or to disclose “to anyone
how another elector voted, without said elector’s consent.” O.C.G.A. § 21-2-568.
SB202’s Criminalization of Free Speech and Press
105. SB202 also requires that the “processing and scanning of absentee
ballots” “shall be open to the view of the public,” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B)
(2021), but then simultaneously prohibits “monitors and observers,” which would
include the press, under penalty of misdemeanor, O.C.G.A. § 21–2–598, from:
(ii) Using or bringing into the room any photographic or other
electronic monitoring or recording devices, cellular telephones, or
computers;
(vi) Tallying, tabulating, estimating, or attempting to
tally, tabulate, or estimate, whether partial or otherwise,
any of the votes on the absentee ballots cast; and
(vii) Communicating any information that they see while
monitoring the processing and scanning of the absentee
ballots, whether intentionally or inadvertently, about any
ballot, vote, or selection to anyone other than an election
official who needs such information to lawfully carry out
his or her official duties.
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B) (2021).
106. O.C.G.A. § 21–2–568.2 (2)(B) (2021) (the “Photography Ban”) also
criminalizes photography in certain ill-defined circumstances:
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(a) It shall be illegal for any person to use photographic
or other electronic monitoring or recording devices,
cameras, or cellular telephones, except as authorized by
law, to:
(1) Photograph or record the face of an electronic ballot
marker while a ballot is being voted or while an elector’s
votes are displayed on such electronic marker; or
(2) Photograph or record a voted ballot.
(b) Any person who violates subsection (a) of this Code
section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.
107. The Photography Ban directly conflicts with another provision of
SB202, O.C.G.A. §50-18-71(k)(2021), which confirms that images of voted ballots
are public records under the Georgia Open Records Act. Thus, SB202 provides
that it is a crime to take a photograph of a document (an image of a voted ballot)
that is itself a public record under Georgia law.
108. Figure 2 is a true and correct copy of a scanned, voted, hand-marked
absentee ballot and Figure 3 is a true and correct copy of a scanned, voted, BMD
ballot:
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Figure 2, Scanned Hand Marked Absentee Ballot Image
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Figure 3 Scanned BMD ballot
SB202’s Absentee Voter Identification Provisions (“Relaxed
Voter ID Rule”)
109. Effective July 1, 2021, SB202 degrades the pre-existing identification
information that voters must provide to the government to be issued an absentee
ballot. The Relaxed Voter ID Rule, O.C.G.A. 21–2–381(a)(1)(C)(i) (2021),
mandates that the Secretary of State’s absentee-ballot request form “shall require
the elector to provide his or her name, date of birth, address as registered, address
where the elector wishes the ballot to be mailed, and the number of his or her
Georgia driver's license or identification card.”
110. SB202 allows a registrar or absentee ballot clerk to “verify the
identity of the applicant” for an absentee ballot by comparing “the applicant’s
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name, date of birth, and number of his or her Georgia driver’s license or
identification card . . . on the application with the information on file in the
registrar’s office.” O.C.G.A. 21–2–381(b)(1) (2021).
111. In the same bill section that added the Relaxed Voter ID Rule, SB202
eliminated the previous well-established requirements for a registrar or absentee
ballot clerk to verify the identity of the absentee ballot applicant by comparing the
signature or mark on the application with the signature or mark on the elector’s
voter registration card. See 2021 Ga. Act 9, SB202, lines 1063–65 (strikeouts).
112. As a result of the Relaxed Voter ID Rule, any person who possesses a
voter’s name, birthdate, and driver license or identification card number, which are
easily available, can now submit a mailed or online application in the name of that
voter for an absentee ballot. The imposter applicant will be verified as that voter
based solely on the three items of information and will be issued the ballot that
belongs to that voter at whatever address the imposter specifies in the absentee
ballot request.
Shortened Period for Applying for Absentee Ballots
(“Impractical Application Deadline”)
113. SB202 drastically shortens the period during which absentee-by-mail
ballots may be applied for. Under prior law, absentee ballots could be applied for
from 180 days before election day, with no specific application deadline. The
Impractical Application Deadline O.C.G.A. § 21–2–381(a)(1)(A) (2021), changed
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the law to provide a much narrower application window that opens only 78 days
prior to election day and that closes 11 days prior to election day.
114. The shortened period for applications for absentee mail ballots creates
at least three categories of constitutional problems. First, voters who encounter
unforeseen emergencies within 11 days of Election Day will be disenfranchised
because there is no hardship waiver of the 11- day deadline. Examples of voters
who would be disenfranchised include voters who had serious accidents or
illnesses, were quarantined, bereaved, or called for National Guard duty,
emergency medical work, or unanticipated jury duty. The effective date of the
Impractical Application Deadline is July 1, 2021 and it will begin to disenfranchise
voters during the July 13, 2021 runoff elections.
115. Second, runoffs for state offices are frequently determined and
announced on the same day as the Secretary of State’s deadline for certification of
the election, with such certification occurring 17 days after the election. O.C.G.A.
§21-2-499(b). Runoffs occur 28 days after Election Day, creating not even one day
to timely apply for an application for a ballot for a runoff announced on the
deadline for applying. Voters requiring absentee ballots will be disenfranchised by
the abbreviated deadline, beginning with the July 13 runoff elections.
116. Third, to meet the 11-day deadline without submitting an application
by email, which must await the development of a secure transmission method as
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explained below, the voter must mail the application well ahead of the 11-day
deadline, causing an unnecessary burden on the voter, considerably reducing the
time available to apply for an absentee ballot.
117. Virtually all other states have provisions for voters in such unforeseen
circumstances to obtain a mail ballot just as Governor Kemp did, indicating that
there is no compelling state interest in preventing voters in such circumstances
from voting.
118.

Absentee ballot applications may be transmitted by voters to the

county registration officials in person or via electronic transmission, mail, or
facsimile. O.C.G.A §21-2-381(a)(1)(A). The General Assembly apparently
recognized the heightened risk of identity theft with the increased requirements of
transmitting extensive personal identifying information on the application and
required that the Secretary “develop a method to allow secure electronic
transmission of such form.” O.C.G.A. §21-2-381(a)(1)(C)(i).
119. Although the provisions of the new ballot application procedures are
effective July 1, 2021, the development and implementation of a secure email or
other electronic transmission method of transmission are likely to require months
or years of development and implementation in 159 counties. Until then, the ballot
application time is significantly compressed as voters will need to mail or deliver
their applications in person to meet the 11-day deadline. Mailing the application
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could add several days to the voters’ application completion and submission date,
furthering the unreasonable burden on voters, particularly in the event of a runoff,
announced within about 11 or 12 days of the runoff election.
C.

Context Within Which SB202 Takes Effect And Will Be Applied
To Plaintiffs

120. The recent history of Georgia elections present circumstances that
render the provisions of SB202 that are challenged herein unconstitutional as those
provisions will be applied to certain of the Plaintiffs.
Georgia’s Oversized Dominion BMD Touchscreens
Unavoidably Compromise Ballot Secrecy
121. In April 2019, Georgia enacted HB316, a law that mandated the
adoption and implementation of a new uniform statewide voting system using
electronic touchscreen ballot marking devices (“BMDs”). HB316 also required that
BMDs provide “absolute secrecy” in voting. O.C.G.A. §21-2-379.22.
122. The oversized Dominion BMD touchscreen displays voter selections
in such a way that they are clearly discernible to a person with normal vision who
has a line of sight to the screen from any distance at which other people are likely
to be located within a polling place. See Figures 4, 5 and 6, infra.
123. Use of the Dominion BMD touchscreens in polling places after their
late 2019 adoption quickly demonstrated that the giant touchscreens destroy the
privacy of the voting experience for voters who use BMDs because those voters’
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electoral choices are clearly visible to election workers, poll watchers, the press,
public observers, and other voters in the polling place
124. Recognizing the problem, the Secretary of State published
illustrations for how election workers should set up polling places to attempt to
decrease privacy violations. However, the Secretary’s illustrations proved to be
incapable of solving the problem caused by the giant BMD touchscreens and have
failed to preserve ballot secrecy for voters using the BMDs for in-person voting.
125. More traditional methods for protecting secrecy of the ballot for BMD
voters, such as booths and privacy screens, cannot be used because of the
technological vulnerabilities of the Dominion BMD voting system. Booths and
privacy shields cannot be used, for example, because the machines have been
shown in litigation to be vulnerable to hacking exploits that can be accomplished
through the simple act of a surreptitious insertion of a USB stick into an open USB
port, either on the BMD or on its attached printer, during the act of voting. To
guard against this known vulnerability, the BMDs must remain fully visible to
election workers at all times to prevent the voting equipment from being
compromised. In fact, poll workers are required under Georgia’s election code to
monitor the machines for tampering, which requires watching the activity at the
machines. State Election Board Rule 183-1-12-.11(4).
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126. During legislative hearings Senator Michael Dugan, a co-sponsor of
SB202, acknowledged that the large touchscreens violated voting privacy, but also
made clear his approval of making the observation of such displays a felony.5
127. Not only will the loss of ballot secrecy have a chilling effect on voting
participation, but SB202 threatens voters and observers at the polling places with
being subjected arbitrarily to a felony charge for “intentionally observing” a
voter’s touchscreen display of votes, although the observation may be unavoidable.
Georgia’s Recent History of Voter Data Security Breaches
128. From at the early 2000’s until at least December 31, 2017, the Center
for Election Services (“CES”) was housed at Kennesaw State University to
assisting the Secretary of State with managing Georgia’s election system. CES was
moved to the Secretary of State’s office in 2018.
129. Acting under contract as the Secretary of State’s agents, CES at KSU
hosted an enormous assemblage of sensitive information critical to the safe and
secure operation of Georgia’s voting system. Among this information was the
entire voter registration database for Georgia’s millions of registered voters. This
database contained every registered voter’s name, driver license or state

Senate Ethics Committee hearing, March 1, 2020
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jC0x7lchU3Q.
5
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identification number, full or partial social security number, full date of birth, and
residence address.
130. The information hosted on the CES/SOS server was not authorized to
be publicly accessible. But between at least August 2016 and March 2017, and
likely for a much longer period of time, this server—and all the files on it,
including the voter registration database—was fully accessible to any computer
user with Internet access.
131. In late August 2016, cybersecurity researcher Logan Lamb (“Lamb”)
used an automated script to access the publicly available files hosted on the
CES/SOS elections server at KSU. Upon inspecting the files his script had
downloaded, Lamb discovered that they included the voter registration database
containing voting histories and personal registration information of every Georgia
voter. Lamb’s subsequent investigation revealed that the files his script
downloaded had been publicly exposed for so long that Google’s automated search
engine had actually cached (i.e., saved digital backup copies of) the pages
containing many of them, meaning that these approximately 6 million voter files
are still available likely from numerous sources. Thus, the personal voter
registration information of millions of registered Georgia voters—including driver
license numbers and birthdates—has been freely available “in the wild” for at least
four years as of the filing of this Complaint.
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Covid-19 in Georgia
132.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic continues to affect Georgia

elections in significant ways.
133. Georgia’s Governor Brian Kemp first declared a Public Health State
of Emergency in response to the pandemic on March 14, 2020. He has
subsequently extended the Public Health State of Emergency and imposed a
number of restrictions on common activities through an evolving series of
executive orders.
134. On April 23, 2021, Governor Kemp issued his most recent renewal of
the ongoing Public Health State of Emergency, which extended the period of
emergency until May 30, 2021.
135. Under the currently applicable restrictions imposed by Governor
Kemp, individuals exposed to or themselves contracting COVID-19 are required to
self-quarantine for a period of fourteen days.
136. This quarantine period potentially conflicts with the right to vote if it
occurs near an election. A voter who is exposed to COVID close to Election Day,
and must therefore self-quarantine, is rendered unable to vote in person and must
instead apply for and obtain an absentee ballot to vote.
137. Governor Kemp himself was exposed to COVID shortly prior to the
November 2020 general election and was required to apply for an absentee ballot
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on the Friday before Election Day. Governor Kemp’s absentee ballot application
was duly processed over the weekend before Election Day, and his absentee ballot
arrived the Monday before Election Day, enabling Governor Kemp to vote and
preventing him from being disenfranchised in the November 2020 election.6 Had
the absentee ballot rules enacted by SB202 been in place, Governor Kemp (and
doubtless many other Georgians in his same situation) would have been
disenfranchised in the November 2020 election.

VI.

SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS OF THREATENED INJURY TO
PLAINTIFFS
A.

Defendants’ Intention to Enforce SB202’s Provisions

138. Defendants who are SEB Voting Members, acting in their official
capacities as voting members of the State Election Board, intend to enforce the
laws established by SB202, including each provision of SB202 that is challenged
herein as unconstitutional.
139. Defendant RAFFENSPERGER intends to “provide any and all
necessary support and assistance that the State Election Board, in its sole
discretion, determines is necessary to enforce [the Georgia Election Code] or to

6

https://www.ajc.com/politics/politics-blog/kemp-receives-absentee-ballot-whilein-quarantine-will-vote-after-all/LIUXJBW4O5AK5MQQLNBVWVUU34/ (last
visited Apr. 28, 2021).
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carry out or conduct any of its duties” established by SB202, including enforcing
each provision of SB202 that is challenged herein as unconstitutional. O.C.G.A. §
21–2–33.1(h) (2021).
140. Defendant RAFFENSPERGER and members of his staff have
repeatedly stated that certain county boards of elections are “habitual offenders,”
are “failing,” and that, if given the necessary authority, Defendant
RAFFENSPERGER will intervene in such counties’ election management.
141. Defendant RAFFENSPERGER and the Defendants who are SEB
Voting Members have prejudged the Fulton County Board, in particular, to be one
of the first superintendents targeted for suspension and removal by the SEB under
SB202’s Takeover Provisions based on violations of the Election Code that
occurred before SB202 was even enacted. During the legislative consideration of
SB202, legislators and RAFFENSPERGER were aware that the SEB already had
at least 27 pending cases against the Fulton County Board investigating election
law violations. Secretary RAFFENSPERGER is investigating Fulton County
voting records for the June and August 2020 elections to determine whether at least
123 voters may have voted twice. The SEB’s findings in these pre-existing cases,
along with numerous Fulton cases previously heard over the last two election
cycles, will count as “any audit or investigation” under the Takeover Provisions
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and may be invoked immediately by the SEB as grounds for the suspension or
removal of the Fulton County Board.
142. Defendant RAFFENSPERGER and his staff do not intend to
implement the “method to allow secure electronic transmission” of absentee ballot
request forms that is called for by SB202, O.C.G.A. § 21–2–381(a)(1)(C)(i)
(2021), in time for that method to be utilized to handle absentee ballot applications
in all 159 counties of Georgia during any elections to be held in 2021.
B.

Plaintiffs’ Direct Standing

143. Enforcement of the challenged provisions of SB202 threatens each
Plaintiff with real and immediate injuries-in-fact that are neither conjectural,
hypothetical, nor contingent, including the following:
Plaintiff Coalition for Good Governance
144. Plaintiff CGG is a non-profit corporation organized and existing under
the laws of the State of Colorado.
145. Plaintiff CGG’s purpose is to preserve and advance the constitutional
liberties and individual civil rights of United States citizens, with an emphasis on
preserving and protecting the civil rights of its members that are exercised through
their participation in public elections and oversight of government activities.
146. Plaintiff CGG is a membership organization, with a membership that
consists of both individuals and other organizations, residing in Georgia and other
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States. Individuals and organizations become members of Plaintiff CGG by
providing their contact information and indicating a desire to associate with the
organization. Members donate money, contribute time, and share information and
intelligence with the organization to the extent they are able and motivated to do
so. Members receive informational communications from Plaintiff CGG and
benefit from Plaintiff CGG’s facilitation and coordination of members’ individual
participation in civic activities that serve the organization’s purpose, such as poll
watching and ballot monitoring, auditing election results, participating in CGGsponsored educational seminars, and publishing opinion pieces. Members utilize
Plaintiff CGG as a resource to answer a wide range of questions about voting
rights, voting processes, open meetings law, public records law, recalls, petition
processes, election legislation, poll watcher training, and how to navigate election
issues and challenge election law violations that they encounter.
147. Plaintiff CGG serves its purpose in a variety of ways, including, for
example, by providing information and education to its members; by serving as a
non-partisan educational and informational resource for the public, county election
officials, poll watchers, press, campaigns, candidates, and political parties; by
monitoring nationwide developments in election law and technology; by providing
speakers for events at educational institutions; by providing commentary from its
leadership on election issues; by collaborating in voting rights and election
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integrity initiatives with other nonpartisan nonprofits and academics; by
developing and sharing research and investigation of reported election problems
with the press, public and other members of the election-integrity community; by
routinely formally proposing election rule-making to the Georgia State Election
Board; by drafting proposed election-related legislation; and by facilitating and
coordinating the engagement of members and prospective members as non-partisan
participants in the electoral process through poll watching, attendance and
participation at public meetings of county election boards, and other civic
activities.
148. Plaintiff CGG’s leaders seek to develop and maintain relationships
with individual board members of Georgia county boards of election and election
directors and frequently communicate with them regarding election administration
policies and decisions.
149. Plaintiff CGG, acting on its own behalf, has direct organizational
standing to bring each of its claims for prospective declaratory and injunctive relief
that are stated herein.
150. The Challenged Provisions of SB202 impair Plaintiff CGG’s ability to
engage in its own projects by forcing the organization to divert resources in
response.

61

Case 1:21-mi-99999-UNA Document 1533 Filed 05/17/21 Page 67 of 206

151. Specifically, all voter education and advocacy projects in North
Carolina related to voter privacy problems and electronic voting system security
have been deferred or curtailed immediately to undertake this action.
152. CGG’s project to provide subject matter expertise to a non-profit
organization plaintiff challenging North Carolina’s voting system certification had
to be dramatically curtailed in order to address the harmful impacts of SB202.
153.

CGG’s project to prepare Georgia poll watcher training materials

related to voting system technology has also been postponed in order to undertake
this legal action.
154.

Because of the need to focus on the challenge to SB202, CGG had to

decline recent requests to assist in the preparation of advocacy materials urgently
needed to challenge Colorado’s legislative efforts to adopt certain types of internet
voting. This project would have been undertaken except for the urgency of this
action to address SB202.
155. As a result of the need to challenge SB202, CGG had to reduce its
time commitment and scope of its leadership role in planning and co-hosting a
national election security seminar for election officials.
156.

CGG had to decline invitations to work with other non-profit

organizations to craft proposed amendments to HR1 and SB1 in order to devote
resources to challenging SB202.
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157. CGG’s Executive Director was unable to assist in the Windham, New
Hampshire audit of the November 2020 election anomalies, because of undertaking
the challenge of SB2020.
158.

Projects to write opinion pieces concerning Georgia’s need for post-

election auditing standards for submission to certain Georgia community
newspapers have been reduced and deferred because of the need to take this legal
action, as have plans for follow up educational webinars regarding SB202 for
Georgia’s county election officials because of the required diversion of resources
for this legal action.
159.

CGG’s project to draft, at the request of individual lawmakers,

proposed Georgia legislation for improved election transparency have been
deferred and reduced because of the resources required to focus on this legal
action.
160. Management of CGG has diverted considerable time from the day-today operations and the above-mentioned projects to raise funds for legal fees and
expenses for this legal action, considerably beyond its previously anticipated 2021
fund raising requirements.
161. The SB202 challenge also required CGG resources to be diverted
from the following: the overhaul of CGG’s website; preparation of newsletters to
donors about CGG projects on voter privacy and election security; educational
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efforts geared to municipal election superintendents and city councils on the need
for hand marked paper ballot voting systems. This substantial and continuing
diversion of CGG’s resources is further described below by Plaintiff DUFORT and
Plaintiff THROOP, both CGG volunteers.
Plaintiff SHIRLEY
162. Plaintiffs SHIRLEY, LANG, PULLAR, THOMAS-CLARK, and
MCNICHOLS have protected property interests in their positions as members of
county election boards that are protected by the Fourteenth Amendment. See
DeKalb County Sch. Dist. v. Ga. Bd. of Educ., No. 1:13-CV-544-RWS, 2013 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 29535, at *8–9, 2013 WL791266 (Mar. 4, 2013) (citing Bd. of Educ.
v. Allen, 392 U.S. 236, 241 n.5 (1968); Finch v. Miss. State Med. Ass’n, Inc., 585
F.2d 765, 773 (5th Cir. 1978)).
163. Plaintiff SHIRLEY was appointed to his current term as a member of
the Athens-Clarke County Board in December 2020 by the Athens-Clerk County
Commission. The Athens-Clarke County Board is a combined board with duties of
a board of registration (O.C.G.A. §21-2-212) and duties of an election
superintendent (O.C.G.A. §21-2-70). As a member Athens-Clarke County Board,
Plaintiff SHIRLEY receives compensation for each meeting of the board that he
attends in his official capacity. Plaintiff SHIRLEY’s current term expires on
December 31, 2024.
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164. Plaintiff SHIRLEY participates in all meetings of the Athens-Clarke
County Board which are conducted in public, generally broadcast on the internet,
with a formal agenda and publicly available board meeting materials. The meetings
routinely permit public comment on election-related matters.
165. Plaintiff SHIRLEY, as a member of the Athens-Clarke County Board,
is facing the real threat of removal by the SEB under the Takeover Provisions of
SB202. Within the two election cycles preceding the date of filing of this
Complaint, the SEB has brought proceedings to sanction the Athens-Clarke County
Board for alleged election law violations which the SEB may claim are sufficient
to support the findings described in O.C.G.A. § 21–2–33.2(c). In March 2020, the
SEB found the Athens-Clarke County Board in violation of the requirement for
uniform voting equipment when the Athens-Clarke County Board adopted the use
of hand marked paper ballots to provide ballot secrecy in the face of the failure of
the BMD touchscreen units to provide for ballot secrecy. The findings, along with
findings in other recent and pending investigations, expose the Athens-Clarke
County Board to immediate suspension or removal by the SEB at any time on the
SEB’s own motion.
166. If the SEB follows through on its expressed intention to suspend or
remove superintendents with existing violations, such as the Athens-Clarke County
Board, Plaintiff SHIRLEY will be injured because he:
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• will be subjected to deprivation of his personal property and liberty interest
in his role as a member of the Athens-Clarke County Board without any
predeprivation due process right to notice and an opportunity to be heard;
• will be deprived of postdeprivation due process because SB202 only permits
a corporate superintendent such as the Athens-Clarke County Board, and not
its constituent individual members, to seek reinstatement;
• will be deprived of the ability to have his interests represented by the
Athens-Clarke County Board itself, since SB202 renders removed corporate
superintendents incapable of meeting, making decisions and taking actions
(such as petitioning the SEB for corporate reinstatement) as a public body
and in compliance with the Georgia Open Meetings Law;
• will be deprived of the ability to have his interest represented by counsel for
the removed Athens-Clarke County Board itself, since SB202 prohibits
public funds from being used to contest a suspension or removal and also
prohibits superintendents from accepting private funds or gifts that could be
used for such purposes;
• will be deprived of income as a result of being unable to attend the AthensClarke County Board meetings in an official capacity (the basis for
SHIRLEY’s compensation as a board member), because the Athens-Clarke
County Board will itself be unable to meet while suspended or removed;
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• will be deprived of the due process benefits of 1993 Ga. Act 216, § 5(c) and
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–212(a), which together provide that members of the
Athens-Clarke County Board are removable from office only for cause after
notice and a hearing and only by the judge of the superior court; and
• will be deprived of the due process benefits of O.C.G.A. § 21–2–32(f),
which mandates a judicial process that must be followed by the SEB before
the SEB can directly supervise the official election duties undertaken by a
superintendent like Athens-Clarke County Board.
167. Plaintiff SHIRLEY, who frequently observes election operations such
as absentee ballot processing in his capacity as a member of the Athens-Clarke
County Board, will be injured by SB202’s prior restraints on his First Amendment
right of free speech and right to petition the government, which are imposed under
penalty of misdemeanor by O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B)(vii) (the Gag Rule).
168. Plaintiff SHIRLEY is registered to vote and is an eligible elector of
the State of Georgia and Athens-Clarke County and intends to vote in all upcoming
elections for which he is eligible to vote.
169. Plaintiff SHIRLEY, in his personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with imminent injury in the event he votes in person during upcoming elections.
Additionally, when he visits the polling place as a member of the Athens-Clarke
Board, he is threatened with the same injury. Specifically, each time he enters the
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polling place, Plaintiff SHIRLEY will see other voters voting on giant BMD
touchscreens, which will expose Plaintiff SHIRLEY to felony prosecution for
violating SB202’s Elector Observation Felony, which prohibits on “intentionally
observ[ing] an elector while casting a ballot in a manner that would allow such
person to see for whom or what the elector is voting.” O.C.G.A. § 21–2–568.1
(2021).
170. Plaintiff SHIRLEY’s Georgia driver’s license number and date of
birth were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia
Secretary of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
171. Plaintiff SHIRLEY, in his personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with a substantial risk that his ballot—and thus his right to vote—will be stolen
from him by someone in possession of his driver license and date of birth, since
these two pieces of personal information are in circulation as a result of lapses of
security by the Georgia Secretary of State. This injury is threatened because
SB202 eliminated the previous absentee-by-mail signature verification check and
adopted in its place the applicant’s provision of these two pieces of information as
the sole means of authenticating a voter’s request for an absentee-by-mail ballot.
Should he choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission
method for applications first being implemented by Defendant
RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff SHIRLEY will be compelled “to consent to the
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possibility of a profound invasion of privacy when exercising the fundamental
right to vote” in violation of substantive due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988
F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993).
172. Plaintiff SHIRLEY, in his personal capacity as a voter, is also
threatened with imminent injury by SB202’s narrowing of the time within which to
apply for an absentee-by-mail ballot for a runoff election, when the announcement
of a runoff election will not be made in some elections until the deadline for
applying for a runoff mail ballot.
Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK
173. Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK was appointed to the Coffee County
Board and her current term expires in 2022. As a Coffee County Board member,
Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK receives compensation for her work as a board
member. In addition, in her role as Chair of the Coffee County Board, Plaintiff
THOMAS-CLARK assists the election staff in numerous administrative electionrelated activities.
174. Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK participates in all meetings of the Coffee
County Board which are conducted in public with a formal agenda and publicly
available board meeting materials. The meetings routinely permit public comment
on election-related matters.
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175. Defendant RAFFENSPERGER recently announced that the Coffee
County Board, of which Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK is a member, is under
investigation, and that counties under investigation for loss of chain of custody of
ballots will be brought before the State Election Board for prosecution. The
Coffee County Board is exposed to immediate suspension or removal by the SEB
at any time on the SEB’s own motion.
176. If the SEB follows through on its expressed intention to suspend or
remove superintendents that it claims have existing violations, such as the Coffee
County Board, Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK will be injured in the same manner
alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
177. Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK is threatened with injuries arising from
SB202’s prior restraints on her First Amendment right of free speech and right to
petition the government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B)(vii) in the same
manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
178. Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK is registered to vote and is an eligible
elector of the State of Georgia and Coffee County and intends to vote in all
upcoming elections for which he is eligible to vote.
179. Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK’s Georgia driver’s license number and
date of birth were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the
Georgia Secretary of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.

70

Case 1:21-mi-99999-UNA Document 1533 Filed 05/17/21 Page 76 of 206

180. Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK, in her personal capacity as a voter, is
threatened with a substantial risk that her ballot—and thus her right to vote—will
be stolen from her in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
Should she choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission
method for applications first being implemented by Defendant
RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK will be compelled “to consent to
the possibility of a profound invasion of privacy when exercising the fundamental
right to vote” in violation of substantive due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988
F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993).
181. Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK, in her personal capacity as a voter, and
when she visits polling places in her role as a board member, is threatened with
prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff SHIRLE.
182. Plaintiff THOMAS-CLARK, in her personal capacity as a voter, is
threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for
absentee-by-mail ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
Plaintiff LANG
183. Plaintiff LANG’s current term on the Chatham County Board started
in January 2019 and ends December 31, 2022. As a Chatham County Board
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member, Plaintiff LANG receives monthly compensation for his service on the
board.
184. Plaintiff LANG participates in all meetings of the Chatham County
Board which are conducted in public with a formal agenda and publicly available
board meeting materials. The meetings routinely permit public comment on
election-related matters.
185. If the SEB follows through on its expressed intention to suspend or
remove superintendents that it claims has existing violations, such as potentially
the Chatham County Board, Plaintiff LANG will be injured in the same manner
alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
186. Plaintiff LANG is threatened with injuries arising from SB202’s prior
restraints on his First Amendment right of free speech and right to petition the
government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B)(vii) (2021) in the same manner
as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
187. Plaintiff LANG is registered to vote and is an eligible elector of the
State of Georgia and Chatham County and intends to vote in all upcoming
elections for which he is eligible to vote.
188. Plaintiff LANG’s Georgia driver’s license number and date of birth
were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia Secretary
of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
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189. Plaintiff LANG, in his personal capacity as a voter, is threatened with
a substantial risk that his ballot – and thus his right to vote – will be stolen from
him in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY. Should he
choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission method for
applications first being implemented by Defendant RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff
LANG will be compelled “to consent to the possibility of a profound invasion of
privacy when exercising the fundamental right to vote” in violation of substantive
due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993).
190. Plaintiff LANG, in his personal capacity as a voter, and when he is
visiting the polling places in his role as a Chatham County Board member, is
threatened with prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner
as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
191. Plaintiff LANG, in his personal capacity as a voter, is threatened with
injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for absentee-by-mail ballot
applications in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
192. In his personal capacity as a voter, Plaintiff LANG is threatened with
injury because SB202 permits the SEB to remove the Chatham County Board of
Registrars without cause, but does not permit the SEB to appoint a replacement to
handle the registration and absentee ballot issuance duties. Plaintiff LANG, like
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all other voters, will suffer from the lack of a functioning department to manage
voter registration and absentee ballot issuance.
Plaintiff PULLAR
193. Plaintiff PULLAR’s current term as a member of the Clayton County
Board expires in 2022. Plaintiff PULLAR receives compensation for each meeting
she attends of the Clayton County Board in her official capacity.
194. Plaintiff PULLAR participates in all meetings of the Clayton County
Board which are conducted in public with a formal agenda and publicly available
board meeting materials. The meetings routinely permit public comment on
election-related matters.
195. Within the two election cycles preceding the date of filing of this
Complaint, the SEB has conducted at least 48 alleged incidents of Clayton County
voters double voting, and one investigation of violations of the Georgia Election
Code by the Clayton County Board. The findings in these investigations, along
with findings in any other recent and pending investigations, expose the Clayton
County Board to the risk of immediate suspension or removal by the SEB at any
time on the SEB’s own motion.
196. If the SEB follows through on its expressed intention to suspend or
remove superintendents that it claims has existing violations, such as potentially
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the Clayton County Board, Plaintiff PULLAR will be injured in the same manner
alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
197. Plaintiff PULLAR is threatened with injuries arising from SB202’s
prior restraints on her First Amendment right of free speech and right to petition
the government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B)(viii) in the same manner as
is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
198. Plaintiff PULLAR is registered to vote and is an eligible elector of the
State of Georgia and Clayton County and intends to vote in all upcoming elections
for which he is eligible to vote.
199. Plaintiff PULLAR’s Georgia driver’s license number and date of birth
were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia Secretary
of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
200. Plaintiff PULLAR, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with a substantial risk that her ballot—and thus her right to vote—will be stolen
from her in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY. Should
she choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission method
for applications first being implemented by Defendant RAFFENSPERGER,
Plaintiff PULLAR will be compelled “to consent to the possibility of a profound
invasion of privacy when exercising the fundamental right to vote” in violation of
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substantive due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir.
1993).
201. Plaintiff PULLAR, in her personal capacity as a voter, and as she
observes polling place activities as a Clayton Board member, is threatened with
prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
202. Plaintiff PULLAR, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for absentee-by-mail
ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
Plaintiff MCNICHOLS
203. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS’ current term as a member of the Jackson
County Board expires on January 31, 2023. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS is
compensated for her service on the Jackson County Board.
204. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS participates in all meetings of the Jackson
County Board which are conducted in public with a formal agenda and publicly
available board meeting materials. The meetings routinely permit public comment
on election-related matters.
205. On behalf of the Jackson County Board, Plaintiff MCNICHOLS
participates in the processing of Jackson County’s mail ballots, including the
collection of mail ballots from the drop boxes. If she detects any problems, her
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practice is to inform the Jackson County elections staff and to alert Pete Fuller, the
Chairman of Plaintiff JDCD.
206. Within the two election cycles preceding the date of filing of this
Complaint, the SEB has brought at least three cases against the Jackson County
Board, of which Plaintiff MCNICHOLS is a member, alleging violations of the
Georgia Election Code. The Secretary of State is conducting an investigation
alleging double voting by 5 Jackson County voters in August 2020. The findings
in these cases, along with findings in other recent and pending investigations,
expose the Jackson County Board to immediate suspension or removal by the SEB
at any time on the SEB’s own motion.
207. If the SEB follows through on its expressed intention to suspend or
remove superintendents with existing violations, such as the Jackson County
Board, Plaintiff MCNICHOLS will be injured in the same manner alleged above
for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
208. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS is threatened with injuries arising from
SB202’s prior restraints on her First Amendment right of free speech and right to
petition the government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B)(vii) in the same
manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
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209. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS is registered to vote and is an eligible elector
of the State of Georgia and Jackson County and intends to vote in all upcoming
elections for which she is eligible to vote.
210. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS’s Georgia driver’s license number and date of
birth were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia
Secretary of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
211. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS, in her personal capacity as a voter, is
threatened with a substantial risk that her ballot—and thus her right to vote—will
be stolen from her in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
Should she choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission
method for applications first being implemented by Defendant
RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff MCNICHOLS will be compelled “to consent to the
possibility of a profound invasion of privacy when exercising the fundamental
right to vote” in violation of substantive due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988
F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993).
212. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS, in her personal capacity as a voter and as she
visits polling places in her role as a Jackson Board member, is threatened with
prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
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213. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS, in her personal capacity as a voter, is
threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the time within which to
apply for absentee-by-mail ballots in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
Plaintiff JACKSON COUNTY DEMOCRATIC
COMMITTEE
214. Plaintiff JCDC has the right under Georgia law to appoint two
members of the Jackson County Board, who help protect the interests of JCDC’s
candidates and members and ensure transparent and accurate elections.
215. Within the two election cycles preceding the date of filing of this
Complaint, the SEB has conducted multiple investigations involving allegations of
violations of the Georgia Election Code by the Jackson County Board. The
findings in these investigations, along with findings in other recent and pending
cases, expose the Jackson County Board to the risk of immediate suspension or
removal by the SEB at any time on the SEB’s own motion.
216. If the SEB follows through on its expressed intention to suspend or
remove superintendents with existing violations, such as the Jackson County
Board, Plaintiff JCDC:
• will be deprived of its current and future appointments to the Jackson
County Board without any pre-deprivation due process right to notice and an
opportunity to be heard;
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• will be deprived of post-deprivation due process because SB202 only
permits a corporate superintendent such as the Jackson County Board, and
not appointers of the superintendent’s constituent individual members, to
petition for the superintendent’s reinstatement;
• will be deprived of the due process benefits of local Acts and O.C.G.A. §
21–2–212(a), which together provide that members of the Jackson County
Board are removable from office only for cause after notice and a hearing
and only by the judge of the superior court; and
• will be deprived of its ability to participate in the public formulation of
decisions by the public authority responsible for administering Jackson
County elections since any appointee of the SEB, by virtue of being an
individual, will be exempted from the transparency requirements of the
Georgia Open Meetings Law. Plaintiff JCDC has direct organizational
standing to bring each of its claims for prospective declaratory and
injunctive relief.
Plaintiff GEORGIA ADVANCING PROGRESS
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
217. GEORGIA ADVANCING PROGRESS POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (“GAPPAC”) is a non-profit organization incorporated in 2017.
GAPPAC is organized as a qualified state and local political organization pursuant
to IRC Section 527 and Georgia's Ethics in Government Act.
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218. Plaintiff GAPPAC is a membership organization with the purpose of
advancing the representation and advancement of Asian Americans and Pacific
Islanders (“AAPI”) to elected office in Georgia, and elected officials who advocate
for AAPI issues.
219. Plaintiff GAPPAC’s members are concentrated in Gwinnett, Fulton,
Cobb, DeKalb, and Forsyth Counties in Georgia.
220. Plaintiff GAPPAC’s members dedicate a significant portion of their
volunteer efforts to help AAPI voters whose primary language is not English by
translating voting and mail ballot instructions. GAPPAC also helps its members
and others who are AAPI voters to properly and timely request and return mail
ballots, which are popular with AAPI voters who may prefer to take their time to
translate and study their ballot in their home, without the time pressure of a polling
place. GAPPAC also assists its members and others who are AAPI voters in
curing mail ballots rejected by officials for discrepancies that may have been
caused by the voter’s misunderstanding of the instructions.
221. Plaintiff GAPPAC prepares video and printed voter education
materials in multiple languages to help its members and others who are AAPI
voters to participate in the voting process.
222. GAPPAC, acting on its own behalf, has direct organizational standing
to bring each of its claims for prospective declaratory and injunctive relief.
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223. Plaintiff GAPPAC has diverted, and will continue diverting,
organizational resources away from its other projects to counteract the Defendants’
enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional provisions.
224. Specifically, GAPPAC serves a community of voters that includes
many fairly new voters and voters whose native language is not English. Massive
changes in SB202’s rules for voting, particularly the new dangerous threat of a
felony accusation for seeing the touchscreen vote choices of other voters, requires
significant and immediate diversion of resources for educational outreach to voters
to explain the new rules and deadlines, and help voters understand how to try to
participate and protect themselves from these wrongful threats, and from mail
ballot disenfranchisement. Such efforts must start immediately to address SB202’s
unconstitutional provisions, some of which will be in effect as early as May 24
when early voting begins for various June 15 elections.
225. Educational efforts must include how to vote by mail under the new
deadlines and how to take precautions to reduce the high risk of identity theft.
Educational materials must be updated and produced in multiple languages.
Additional funds must be raised to pay for these unplanned educational efforts.
Such efforts are diverting GAPPAC resources from its day-to-day activities such as
candidate and issue advocacy. GAPPAC will also continue to divert resources to
obtain legal advice relating to the preparation of the educational material and to

82

Case 1:21-mi-99999-UNA Document 1533 Filed 05/17/21 Page 88 of 206

communications to the Gwinnett Board of Elections to urge it to protect voters
from disenfranchisement because of SB202, and defend itself against takeover
threats. GAPPAC management is diverting resources to contact potential vendors
regarding determining the costs for the unplanned overhauling its educational
materials required by the changes created by SB202.
226. This litigation and the unanticipated voter education effort will divert
resources from GAPPAC’s planned core activities of recruiting AAPI candidates,
campaigning for AAPI candidates, advocacy for GAPPAC’s key issues, and
helping new AAPI voters get registered to vote in anticipation of the upcoming
November municipal elections and the 2022 midterm elections.
Plaintiff GRAHAM
227. Plaintiff GRAHAM in his role as the Chair of the Libertarian Party of
Georgia (“LPG”) recruits and appoints poll workers and mail ballot monitors who
observe the conduct of elections across the State. The primary focus of LPG in
poll watching is voting system security, accuracy, and operations, as well as efforts
to improve voter privacy. LPG poll watchers and mail ballot monitors report to
Plaintiff GRAHAM about observed election irregularities, election administration
problems, ballot secrecy violations, and election security deficiencies. Plaintiff
Graham relies on these reports to inform what actions he must take as a Chair to
protect the interests of the Libertarian Party in Georgia. Plaintiff Graham intends
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to continue to perform these activities in 2021 and in future elections to the extent
permitted by law.
228. Plaintiff GRAHAM is already being injured by SB202, as experienced
poll watchers and mail ballot observers whom he has appointed in the past to
observe election activities are expressing hesitancy to act as such observers
because they fear allegations of “intentionally observing” displayed votes, leading
to criminal prosecution.
229. Plaintiff GRAHAM wishes to appoint experienced poll watchers and
monitors for the upcoming June 15, 2021 elections, including the House District 34
election in Cobb County, in which there is a Libertarian candidate. Early voting for
that election begins May 24, 2021, with mail ballot processing permitted to being
on May 31, 2021. Experienced poll watchers are hesitant and fearful of retribution
from the Secretary of State, as many have previously publicly criticized the BMD
voting system after observing for LPG in the polling places.
230. Plaintiff GRAHAM wishes to appoint mail ballot monitors in
upcoming elections, including the June 15, 2021 elections for which mail ballot
processing begins May 24, 2021. Monitors observe mail ballot processing to
protect LPG’s interest in fair elections and to protect the interests of its candidates,
members and Georgia voters. Such appointed monitors are threatened with
injuries arising from SB202’s prior restraints on their First Amendment right of
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free speech and right to petition the government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
386(a)(2)(B)(vi) (2021) and (vii) in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff SHIRLEY. GRAHAM’s efforts to appoint monitors is harmed by the
threatened harm to the monitors.
231. Plaintiff GRAHAM will be deprived of the information required to act
on mail ballot processing problems or discrepancies because of restraints on his
monitors’ exercise of free speech.
232. In his role as Chair of LPG it is important that Plaintiff GRAHAM be
able to monitor the decision-making of the county election boards across the state.
Upon the takeover of any county board of elections, Plaintiff GRAHAM will lose
his ability to monitor the election management process on behalf of the LPG and to
make informed decisions to protect the interests of the party, its candidates and its
members.
233. Plaintiff GRAHAM is a registered Fulton County voter. Given the
Defendants’ stated intentions to suspend or remove superintendents like the Fulton
County Board of Registration and Election (“the Fulton County Board”), Plaintiff
GRAHAM is threatened with injury in the form of the deprivation of his right to
attend and participate in public meetings of the Fulton County Board at which
election administration and governance decisions for Fulton County voters will be
decided.
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234. Plaintiff GRAHAM’s Georgia driver’s license and date of birth were
disclosed to unknown person in repeated breaches of the Georgia Secretary of
State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
235. Plaintiff GRAHAM generally chooses to vote in person during early
voting, and is now subject to the risk of felony allegations merely by glancing
around the polling place.
236. In the November 2020 general election, the Defendant Secretary of
State permitted absentee ballot applicants to submit online applications that did not
require pen and ink signatures but did require the applicant to provide a Georgia
driver license number and date of birth. In other words, the Secretary conducted
what was effectively a trial run of SB202’s absentee ballot request provisions,
requiring sensitive personal identifying information to be transmitted.
237. In the November 2020 general election Plaintiff GRAHAM went to
the Fulton County Metropolitan Library polling place during early voting and was
told that records showed he had applied for and been issued a mail absentee ballot.
Plaintiff GRAHAM had not done so and insisted on being able to vote in the
polling place. Officials gave him two choices—either not vote, or sign a form
affidavit that stated (falsely) that he had requested an absentee ballot but wished to
vote in person instead. Plaintiff GRAHAM objected to being forced to sign a false
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affidavit to exercise his fundamental right to vote. Plaintiff GRAHAM has never
been told why official records recorded him as requesting an absentee ballot.
238. It is not known whether Plaintiff GRAHAM’S identity was stolen for
purposes of obtaining a fraudulent mail ballot causing GRAHAM to be
inaccurately told that he had requested a mail ballot. GRAHAM’S experience
demonstrates the real threat of mail ballot identity theft when widely available
identification numbers and dates of birth can be used to obtain a ballot. Should he
choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission method for
applications first being implemented by Defendant RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff
GRAHAM will be compelled “to consent to the possibility of a profound invasion
of privacy when exercising the fundamental right to vote” in violation of
substantive due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993)
Plaintiff MARTIN
239. Plaintiff MARTIN is registered to vote and is an eligible elector of the
State of Georgia and Fulton County and intends to vote in all upcoming elections
for which she is eligible to vote.
240. Plaintiff MARTIN is a frequent poll watcher and mail ballot monitor
appointed to that role by Plaintiff GRAHAM. Plaintiff MARTIN routinely attends
the Fulton County Board meetings, generally reviews the board materials available
to the public, and frequently offers comments and recommendations during the
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board’s public comment period. Plaintiff MARTIN has repeatedly filed formal
complaints or declarations in litigation regarding the failure to protect the secret
ballot and various election security violations. She has been publicly critical of the
secret ballot violations on local television news.7
241. Within the 12 months preceding the date of filing of this Complaint,
the SEB has instituted investigations for election law violations (wrongly) alleged
to have been committed by Plaintiff MARTIN. These baseless investigations show
the SEB’s willingness to arbitrarily and unjustifiably abuse its powers to retaliate
against its critics, such as Plaintiff MARTIN.
242. Plaintiff MARTIN, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner as is
alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
243. Plaintiff MARTIN will also be deterred from continuing poll
watching activity so long as she is at risk of being arbitrarily accused of a felony
for intentionally observing a voter’s selections on the touchscreen voting machines.
244. Plaintiff MARTIN will be deterred from continuing mail ballot
processing monitoring activities so long as she cannot report mail balloting

7

https://www.11alive.com/article/news/georgia-voting-privacy/85-01f0e401-786446ec-9389-ac88323f6254 (last visited Apr. 29, 2021).
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discrepancies or findings to anyone other than the superintendent, which makes the
activities of little value.
245. Plaintiff MARTIN will be deterred from continuing to monitor mail
ballot processes so long as she can be accused of “estimating” or “attempting to
estimate” any of the votes on absentee ballots cast” by any election official who
dislikes her presence. O.C.G.A.§ 21–2–386(a)(2)(A); O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
386(a)(2)(B)(vi).
246. As both an election observer and a voter, Plaintiff MARTIN is
threatened with injuries arising from SB202’s prior restraints on her First
Amendment right of free speech and right to petition the government under
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B)(vii) (2021) in the same manner as is alleged above
for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
247. Secretary RAFFENSPERGER has clearly indicated his desire to
intervene in Fulton County’s election administration, a goal echoed by members of
the General Assembly in advocating for the passage of SB202.
248. Given the Defendants’ stated intentions to suspend or remove
superintendents like the Fulton County Board, Plaintiff MARTIN is threatened
with injury in the form of the deprivation of her right to attend and participate in
public meetings of the Fulton County Board at which election administration and
governance decisions for Fulton County voters will be decided.
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249. Plaintiff MARTIN’s Georgia driver’s license number and date of birth
were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia Secretary
of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
250. Plaintiff MARTIN, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with a substantial risk that her ballot—and thus her right to vote—will be stolen
from her in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY. Should
she choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission method
for applications first being implemented by Defendant RAFFENSPERGER,
Plaintiff MARTIN will be compelled “to consent to the possibility of a profound
invasion of privacy when exercising the fundamental right to vote” in violation of
substantive due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993)
251. Plaintiff MARTIN, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for absentee-by-mail
ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
MARTIN has repeatedly had problems obtaining a timely absentee ballot from
Fulton County, despite properly applying weeks in advance. The narrowed window
for application, and the inability to securely transmit applications electronically,
makes it likely that MARTIN will be injured by an inability to obtain an absentee
ballot, particularly in runoff elections, and will be forced to choose between voting
in person with the associated risk of a felony accusation or not voting.
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Plaintiff DUFORT
252. Plaintiff DUFORT is registered to vote and is an eligible elector of the
State of Georgia and Morgan County and intends to vote in all upcoming elections
for which she is eligible to vote.
253. Plaintiff DUFORT is a Vice-Chair of the Morgan County Democratic
Committee (“MCDC”). In this role, Plaintiff DUFORT recruits and supervises
poll watchers and mail ballot monitors who observe the conduct of elections in
Morgan County. The MCDC’s poll watchers and mail ballot monitors report to
Plaintiff DUFORT about observed election irregularities, election administration
problems, and election security deficiencies.
254. Plaintiff DUFORT regularly attends the meetings of the Morgan
County Board of Elections and Registration (the “Morgan County Board”).
Plaintiff DUFORT generally reviews the board materials available to the public,
and frequently offers comments and recommendations during the board’s public
comment period. Plaintiff DUFORT personally knows each of the members of the
Morgan County Board and often calls or meets with them to offer information and
suggestions and to lodge objections to decision made by the Morgan County
Board.
255. Plaintiff DUFORT also routinely acts as a poll watcher and mail
ballot monitor herself on behalf of the MCDC. Plaintiff DUFORT has repeatedly
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filed formal complaints or declarations in litigation regarding the failure to protect
the secret ballot, and challenging various election security violations.
256. Plaintiff DUFORT will be deterred from continuing poll watching
activity so long as she is at risk of being accused of a felony for intentionally
observing a voter’s selections on the touchscreen voting machines.
257. Plaintiff DUFORT will be deterred from continuing to monitor mail
ballot processes so long as she can be accused of “estimating” or “attempting to
estimate any of the votes on absentee ballots cast” by any election official who
dislikes her presence. O.C.G.A.§ 21–2–386(2)(A); O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
386(2)(B)(vi). These vague prohibitions constituting misdemeanors subject
Plaintiff DUFORT to arbitrary enforcement in her role as a mail ballot monitor.
258. Plaintiff DUFORT will be deterred from continuing mail ballot
processing monitoring activities so long as she cannot report mail balloting
discrepancies or findings to anyone other than the superintendent, which makes the
activities of little value.
259. Plaintiff DUFORT routinely serves on the mail ballot Vote Review
Panel in Morgan County, a bi-partisan team that reviews mail ballots with vote
marks not easily interpreted by the scanners. In that role, she has discovered and
reported systemwide problems in scanner accuracy, resulting in some scanner
improvement, but also ongoing litigation. The Gag Rule, making such reporting a
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misdemeanor, will prohibit DUFORT from publicly reporting such problems in the
future.
260. The threat of criminal prosecution will impair Plaintiff DUFORT’s
ability to observe polling places and mail ballot processing and fulfill her
responsibilities to recruit and appoint watchers and monitors on behalf of the
Morgan County Democratic Committee.
261. As both an election observer and a voter, Plaintiff DUFORT is
threatened with injuries arising from SB202’s prior restraints on her First
Amendment right of free speech and right to petition the government under
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(2)(B)(vi) (2021) and (vii) in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
262. Plaintiff DUFORT, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner as is
alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
263. Plaintiff DUFORT’s Georgia driver’s license number and date of birth
were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia Secretary
of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
264. Plaintiff DUFORT, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with a substantial risk that her ballot—and thus her right to vote—will be stolen
from her in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY. Should
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she choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission method
for applications first being implemented by Defendant RAFFENSPERGER,
Plaintiff DUFORT will be compelled “to consent to the possibility of a profound
invasion of privacy when exercising the fundamental right to vote” in violation of
substantive due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993)
265. Plaintiff DUFORT, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for absentee-by-mail
ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
266. Plaintiff DUFORT is a frequently requested speaker for organizations
focused on voting rights, voter education, and election security. In her role as an
active member of CGG, she frequently speaks on behalf of CGG on these topics.
After the enactment of SB202, she has had to divert her volunteer time from other
CGG activities to devote to education and litigation efforts related to SB202,
creating injury to CGG’s planned activities. Such planned but now deferred CGG
activities include reviewing the accuracy of the tabulation of Morgan County
scanned ballot images in the 2020 elections, drafting proposed election rules for
CGG’s SEB rule-making advocacy efforts, analyzing county election cost
increases related to the BMD voting system, and fundraising for CGG.
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Plaintiff NAKAMURA
267. Plaintiff NAKAMURA is registered to vote and is an eligible elector
of the State of Georgia and Fulton County and intends to vote in all upcoming
elections for which she is eligible to vote
268. Plaintiff NAKAMURA is frequently appointed by Plaintiff
GRAHAM as a poll watcher and mail ballot monitor and has repeatedly filed
formal complaints or declarations in litigation regarding the failure to protect the
secret ballot and various election security violations. She has been publicly critical
of the secret ballot violations in her public comments at SEB meetings and Fulton
County Board of Elections meetings.
269. Plaintiff NAKAMURA does not intend to continue poll watching
activity so long as she is at risk of being accused of a felonious act of intentionally
observing a voter’s selections on the touchscreen voting machines.
270. Plaintiff NAKAMURA does not intend to continue mail ballot
processing monitoring activities so long as she cannot report mail balloting
discrepancies or findings to anyone other than the superintendent, which makes the
activities of little value.
271. Plaintiff NAKAMURA does not intend to continue to monitor mail
ballot processes so long as she can be accused of the misdemeanor of “estimating”
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or “attempting to estimate any of the votes on absentee ballots cast” in violation of
O.C.G.A. §21-2-386(2)(B)(vi).
272. Given the high risk of SEB takeover of the Fulton County Board,
Plaintiff NAKAMURA risks losing her right, which she frequently exercises, to
monitor and participate in the Fulton County Board’s public meetings to personally
and on behalf of CGG advocate for fair, secure and transparent elections.
273. As both an election observer and a voter, Plaintiff NAKAMURA is
threatened with injuries arising from SB202’s prior restraints on her First
Amendment right of free speech and right to petition the government under
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(2)(B)(vi) (2021) and (vii) in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
274. Plaintiff NAKAMURA, in her personal capacity as a voter, is
threatened with prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner
as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
275. Plaintiff NAKAMURA’s Georgia driver’s license number and date of
birth were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia
Secretary of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
276. Plaintiff NAKAMURA, in her personal capacity as a voter, is
threatened with a substantial risk that her ballot—and thus her right to vote—will
be stolen from her in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
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Should she choose to vote absentee by mail, without a truly secure transmission
method for applications first being implemented by Defendant
RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff NAKAMURA will be compelled “to consent to the
possibility of a profound invasion of privacy when exercising the fundamental
right to vote” in violation of substantive due process. Greidinger v. Davis, 988
F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993)
277. Plaintiff NAKAMURA, in her personal capacity as a voter, is
threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for
absentee-by-mail ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff SHIRLEY. NAKAMURA has repeatedly had problems obtaining a
timely absentee ballot from Fulton County, despite properly applying weeks in
advance. The narrowed window for application, and the inability to securely
transmit applications electronically, makes it likely that NAKAMURA will be
injured by an inability to obtain an absentee ballot, particularly in runoff elections,
and will be forced to choose between voting in person with the associated risk of a
felony accusation or not voting.
278. Plaintiff NAKAMURA has not, to her knowledge, ever contracted
COVID-19. Because of chronic health conditions she remains at substantial risk of
doing so, particularly in the case of variant surge, in which case she will be
required to quarantine herself immediately. The same is true of surges in influenza
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or other communicable diseases. If this happens during the eleven days prior to an
election, Plaintiff NAKAMURA will be unable to vote in person and will be
rendered unable to vote altogether because SB202 prohibits voters from obtaining
an absentee ballot during the eleven or more days prior to election day, taking into
account that email applications without a secure transmission option will require
application at least two weeks prior to election day.
Plaintiff THROOP
279. Plaintiff THROOP is registered to vote and is an eligible elector of the
State of Georgia and Fulton County and intends to vote in all upcoming elections
for which she is eligible to vote.
280. Plaintiff THROOP is frequently appointed by Plaintiff GRAHAM as a
poll watcher and mail ballot monitor and has repeatedly filed formal complaints or
declarations in litigation regarding the failure to protect the secret ballot and
challenging various election security violations.
281. Plaintiff THROOP routinely attends the meetings of the DeKalb
County Board of Elections and Registration (the “DeKalb County Board”). She
reviews the public materials and interacts with board members to offer suggestions
and options, or to lodge objections to policies that fail to secure DeKalb’s elections
or ensure fair access to the polls.
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282. Plaintiff THROOP does not intend to continue poll watching activity
so long as she is at risk of being accused of a felonious act of intentionally
observing a voter’s selections on the touchscreen voting machines. Plaintiff
THROOP, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened with prosecution for
the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff
SHIRLEY.
326. Plaintiff THROOP does not intend to continue mail ballot processing
monitoring activities so long as she cannot report mail balloting discrepancies or
findings to anyone other than the superintendent, which makes the activities of
little value.
327. Plaintiff THROOP does not intend to continue to monitor mail ballot
processes so long as she can be accused of the misdemeanor of “estimating” or
“attempting to estimate any of the votes on absentee ballots cast.” (O.C.G.A. §212-386(2)(B)(vi).
328. As both an election observer and a voter, Plaintiff THROOP is
threatened with injuries arising from SB202’s prior restraints on her First
Amendment right of free speech and right to petition the government under
O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(2)(B)(vi) (2021) and (vii) in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
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329. Secretary Raffensperger announced his view that DeKalb performed
in an “unacceptable” way in June 2020 and opened an investigation into the
DeKalb County Board’s conduct of the election. The SEB had 6 pending DeKalb
cases and investigations as of the April 28, 2021 SEB meeting, and was
investigating 137 cases of alleged double voting in DeKalb’s June and August
2020 elections
330. Given the high risk of SEB takeover of the Dekalb County Board,
Plaintiff THROOP, as a DeKalb County voter, is subject to losing the right she
frequently exercises to monitor and participate in the DeKalb County Board’s
public meetings to personally to advocate for fair, secure and transparent elections.
329. Plaintiff THROOP ’s Georgia driver’s license number and date of
birth were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia
Secretary of State’s elections server in 2016 and 2017.
330. Plaintiff THROOP is threatened with a substantial risk that her
ballot—and thus her right to vote—will be stolen from her in the same manner as
is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY. Should she choose to vote absentee by
mail, without a truly secure transmission method for applications first being
implemented by Defendant RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff THROOP will be
compelled “to consent to the possibility of a profound invasion of privacy when
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exercising the fundamental right to vote” in violation of substantive due process.
Greidinger v. Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993).
331. Plaintiff THROOP, in her personal capacity as a voter, is threatened
with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for absentee-by-mail
ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
332. Plaintiff THROOP is an active volunteer for CGG and often
undertakes graphic design projects for CGG’s educational materials. After the
enactment of SB202, she has had to divert her volunteer time from other CGG
activities, such as assisting in the updating of CGG’s website, to prepare CGG
educational materials for Georgia election officials relating to the challenged
provisions of SB202, to meet with concerned citizens to explain the local impact of
SB202, and to help organize this lawsuit.
Plaintiff FRIEDMAN
283. Plaintiff FRIEDMAN, a journalist, will be injured by SB202’s prior
restraints on his First Amendment right of free speech and freedom of the press
which is imposed under penalty of misdemeanor by the Gag Rule, O.C.G.A. § 21–
2–386(a)(2)(B)(ii) and (vii) (2021), and Photography Ban, O.C.G.A. §21-2-568(a).
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284. Under SB202, FRIEDMAN be prohibited from reporting mail
balloting discrepancies or security concerns that he or The BRAD BLOG or the
BradCast journalists may personally observe as members of the press.
285. In addition, Plaintiff FRIEDMAN will be injured because the partyappointed observers he has relied on to supply first-hand accounts, such as Plaintiff
DUFORT, are prohibited under penalty of misdemeanor from reporting their
observations to Plaintiff FRIEDMAN.
286. The enforcement of the Photography Ban will prohibit Plaintiff
FRIEDMAN and his associates from bringing photographic equipment into the
mail ballot processing operation, a traditional place from which press
photographers and reporters document the process of the election.
287. In recent elections, thousands of press photos were widely published
of anonymous voted mail ballots from the mail ballot workrooms and audit rooms
in Fulton County, and video recorded interviews were conducted with officials
while at work in those rooms.
288. Plaintiff FRIEDMAN and field reporters he would otherwise engage
will be deterred from observing or photographing polling place activity so long as
reporters are at risk of being accused of a felony for observing a voter’s selections
on the touchscreen voting machines.
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289. Plaintiff FRIEDMAN will be deterred from monitoring mail ballot
processes so long as reporters can be accused of the misdemeanors of “estimating”
or “attempting to estimate any of the votes on absentee ballots cast” by any
election official. O.C.G.A.§ 21–2–386(2)(A); O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(2)(B)(vi).
290. Plaintiff FRIEDMAN is already injured by SB202 because the
criminalization of constitutionally protected activity has a chilling effect on his
exercise of First Amendment rights.
291. Plaintiff FRIEDMAN is threatened with injuries arising from SB202’s
prior restraints on his First Amendment right of free speech and right of freedom of
the press.
C.

Plaintiff CGG’s Associational Standing
Elements of CGG’s Associational Standing

333. At least one of CGG’s members has standing to sue each Defendant
on each of CGG’s claim in the member’s own right.
334. The interests CGG seeks to protect are germane to CGG’s
organizational purpose.
335. The prospective injunctive and declaratory relief requested by CGG
does not require the participation of CGG’s individual members in this lawsuit.
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Individual Standing of Plaintiff Members of CGG
336. Plaintiffs GRAHAM, DUFORT, NAKAMURA, THROOP, LANG,
SHIRLEY, PULLAR, THOMAS-CLARK, MCNICHOLS, and MARTIN are
members of Plaintiff CGG who have standing to sue in their own right due to their
threatened injuries-in-fact alleged above.
337. Within the 12 months preceding the date of filing of this Complaint,
the SEB and Defendant RAFFENSPERGER have conducted investigations for
election law violations alleged to have been committed by Plaintiff CGG’s
executive director, by CGG board member Plaintiff MARTIN, and by an expert
witness who has testified in Court proceedings at Plaintiff CGG’s request. The
strained allegations in these investigations smack of retaliation for CGG’s
litigation activities against the SEB related to election security and voter privacy.
Because of this recent history of baseless investigations and enforcement
proceedings against Plaintiff CGG’s members, Plaintiff CGG’s members have
reasonable fears that the new, stronger criminal prohibitions established by SB202
will be invoked by the Defendant Secretary and SEB to harass and intimidate
Plaintiff CGG’s members to discourage their activities that scrutinize the voting
system and election procedures.
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Individual Standing of Non-Plaintiff Members of CGG
338. Plaintiff CGG has numerous members who not named as Plaintiffs in
this litigation but who are registered Fulton County and DeKalb County voters.
Given the Defendants’ stated intentions to suspend or remove superintendents like
the Fulton and DeKalb County Boards, Plaintiff CGG’s members who are Fulton
and DeKalb County voters are threatened with injury in the form of the deprivation
of their right to attend and participate in public meetings of the Fulton County
Board and the DeKalb County Board at which election administration and
governance decisions for Fulton County and DeKalb County voters will be
decided.
339. Each of CGG’s members who is a registered voter is threatened with
injuries arising from SB202’s prior restraints on their First Amendment right of
free speech and right to petition the government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
386(a)(2)(B)(vi) (2021) and (vii) in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
340. Each of CGG’s members who is a registered Georgia voter, in his or
her personal capacity as a voter, if they chose to or are forced to vote in person, is
threatened with prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner
as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
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341. Each of CGG’s members who is a registered voter and whose
personal information has been exposed as a result of the Secretary of State’s data
security failures is threatened with a substantial risk that his or her ballot—and thus
his or her right to vote—will be stolen in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff SHIRLEY. Should its members choose to vote absentee by mail, without
a truly secure transmission method for applications first being implemented by
Defendant RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff CGG’s members will be compelled “to
consent to the possibility of a profound invasion of privacy when exercising the
fundamental right to vote” in violation of substantive due process. Greidinger v.
Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993)
342. Each of CGG’s members who is a registered Georgia voter and who
wishes to vote in person, but experiences unforeseen medical or employment
demands in the 11 days prior to election day causing then to be absent from the
polls, is threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for
absentee-by-mail ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff NAKAMURA
343. Each of CGG’s members who is a registered Georgia voter and who is
vulnerable to contracting COVID-19, or to being exposed to someone with
COVID-19, is threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the
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window for absentee-by-mail ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff NAKAMURA.
344. Each of CGG’s members who are registered electors in counties with
a separately operating board of registration is threatened with injury arising from
SB202’s grant of authority to the SEB to remove the board of registration without
cause and without the ability to appoint a replacement registrar in the same manner
as is alleged above for Plaintiff LANG.
345. Plaintiff CGG has members who desire to exercise their constitutional
right to cast an absolutely secret ballot, which is generally unavailable in the
polling places where BMDs are used and wish to vote a secret ballot by absentee
ballot.
346. Plaintiff CGG has members who desire to vote in special June 15,
2021 vacancy elections and will avoid going to the polling place because of the
risk of wrongfully being accused of a felony.
347. Plaintiff CGG has at least one member who is a candidate in the
House District 34 special election on June 15, 2021 and is concerned about
intimidation of supporters because of the risk of being accused of the felony of
observing touchscreen displays.
348.

Plaintiff CGG has elderly members who find it physically necessary

to vote by absentee mail ballot because of the difficulty of travel to polling places,
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standing in polling place lines, and using the polling place equipment. They are
faced with the threat of innocently seeing votes on a touchscreen and being
charged with a felony. If these members do not receive an automatic roll-over
ballot, these members will be unable to obtain a mail ballot for a state office runoff
because the deadline for an absentee mail ballot application occurs on the same day
that the need for a state runoff is determined, providing no reasonable window for
requesting a mail ballot.
349. Plaintiff CGG has at least one member who is a student at an out-ofstate university. She and similarly situated students will be unable to vote by
absentee mail ballot in state office runoff elections because the deadline for the
ballot application occurs on the same day that the related election is certified and
the need for the runoff election is determined. Even when the runoff is announced
earlier, given the requirement to mail or deliver a ballot application in person (until
a secure electronic transmission method is available), students in distant states will
be unable to apply by mail before the 11-day deadline.
350. Plaintiff CGG has a number of members who have routinely applied
for absentee ballots by submitting their applications via email to assure prompt
delivery of their application. Until the Secretary of State’s secure transmission
method can be developed and installed, the members will have even less time to
submit a timely application. The secure transmission method is essential given the
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new requirements that the voter submit driver’s license numbers and full date of
birth on the application. Without a truly secure transmission method being
implemented, members who seek to vote absentee by mail will be compelled “to
consent to the possibility of a profound invasion of privacy when exercising the
fundamental right to vote” in violation of substantive due process. Greidinger v.
Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993).
351. Plaintiff CGG has a number of members whose health is impaired
because of immune system diseases making them particularly susceptible to health
risks during the current pandemic conditions. For many of CGG’s members with
such health conditions, a reliable, secure, and timely system of mail balloting is
essential to their exercise of the franchise.
352. Plaintiff CGG has a number of members whose Georgia driver’s
license numbers and dates of birth were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated
breaches of the Georgia Secretary of State’s elections server that occurred in 2016
and 2017.
353. Plaintiff CGG has a number of members who have been publicly
protesting the enactment of SB202 and have been actively involved in seeking
SB202 sponsor Representative Barry Fleming’s removal as county or city attorney
in certain jurisdictions that he represents. These members now face the likely
increased risk of being investigated for the felony act of “intentionally” observing
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others’ votes on the oversized touchscreens when they vote in the polling place.
Several members, some of them African American, now fear entering the polling
place to vote, for fear that another voter, official, or observer seeking retribution
may falsely allege intentional observation---an allegation against which the voter
cannot defend.
354. Plaintiff CGG has members who are voters in counties with separate
boards of registration subject to removal without cause and risk the loss of
functioning voter registration and absentee balloting activities.
355. Plaintiff CGG has several members including officers, who regularly
act as poll watchers and mail ballot processing observers on behalf of political
parties or candidates. As such, they have submitted multiple declarations detailing
election discrepancies and security issues to the Court in other cases and provided
public comment in such cases. These members, like the members who have
protested SB202 and fear retribution, are also concerned about targeted
enforcement of the punitive law, fearing that they may be charged with felonies for
simply looking toward the machines in conjunction with their duties to watch for
tampering and machine malfunctions. Member poll watchers expect that the risk of
alleged felonies will cause them to curtail their volunteer poll-watching duties.

110

Case 1:21-mi-99999-UNA Document 1533 Filed 05/17/21 Page 116 of 206

356. Because of the foregoing threatened injuries, each of CGG’s members
described above would have standing to sue in their own right.
D.

Plaintiff JCDC’s Associational Standing
Elements of JCDC’s Associational Standing

357. At least one of JCDC’s members has standing to sue each Defendant
on each of JCDC’s claim in the member’s own right.
358. The interests JCDC seeks to protect are germane to JCDC’s
organizational purpose.
359. The prospective injunctive and declaratory relief requested by JCDC
does not require the participation of JCDC’s individual members in this lawsuit.
Individual Standing of Plaintiff Members of JCDC
360. Plaintiff MCNICHOLS is a member of Plaintiff JCDC who has
standing to sue in her own right due to her threatened injuries-in-fact alleged
above.
Individual Standing of Non-Plaintiff Members of JCDC
361. Plaintiff JCDC has numerous members who not named as Plaintiffs in
this litigation but who are registered Georgia and Jackson County voters.
362. Each of JCDC’s members who is a registered voter is threatened with
injuries arising from SB202’s prior restraints on her First Amendment right of free
speech and right to petition the government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(2)(B)(vi)
(2021) and (vii) in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
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363. Each of JCDC’s members who is a registered voter, in his or her
personal capacity as a voter, is threatened with prosecution for the Elector
Observation Felony in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
364. Each of JCDC’s members who is a registered voter and whose
personal information has been exposed as a result of the Secretary of State’s data
security failures is threatened with a substantial risk that his or her ballot—and thus
his or her right to vote—will be stolen in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff SHIRLEY. Should its members choose to vote absentee by mail, without
a truly secure transmission method for applications first being implemented by
Defendant RAFFENSPERGER, Plaintiff JCDC’s members will be compelled “to
consent to the possibility of a profound invasion of privacy when exercising the
fundamental right to vote” in violation of substantive due process. Greidinger v.
Davis, 988 F.2d 1344, 1354 (4th Cir. 1993)
365. Each of JCDC’s members who is a registered Georgia voter and who
wishes to vote in person, but experiences unforeseen medical or employment
demands in the 11 days prior to election day causing then to be absent from the
polls, is threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for
absentee-by-mail ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff NAKAMURA.
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366. Each of JCDC’s members who is a registered voter and who is
vulnerable to contracting COVID-19, or to being exposed to someone with
COVID-19, is threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the
window for absentee-by-mail ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff NAKAMURA.
367. Members of Plaintiff JCDC, including its Chairman, Larry “Pete”
Fuller, frequently attend the meetings of the Jackson County Board, review the
board meeting materials, and take advantage of the public comment period to
advocate for the JCDC’s policy positions or to raise concerns about discrepancies
and problem areas, including unlawful efforts to remove eligible voters from the
voter rolls.
368. Plaintiff JCDC has members whose Georgia driver’s license and date
of birth were disclosed to unknown persons in repeated breaches of the Georgia
Secretary of State’s election server in 2016 and 2017.
369. Plaintiff JCDC appoints poll watchers and who observe the conduct of
elections in Jackson County. In addition, Chairman Fuller routinely visits polling
places on behalf of the JCDC to ensure that any problems are reported to the
Jackson County Board. Chairman Fuller and JCDC’s appointed watchers are
threatened with prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony in the same manner
as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
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370. Plaintiff JCDC has individual voter members who will be threatened
with, and intimidated by, the allegation of the felonious activity of “intentionally
observing” a display screen.
371. Plaintiff JCDC’s ability to appoint poll watchers given the threat of
the allegation of felonious observation while poll watching will undoubtedly have
a chilling effect on the recruitment of watchers, impairing JCDC’s ability to protect
its members and candidates interests by monitoring polling places.
372. Plaintiff JCDC’s has the right to appoint mail ballot monitors to
observe mail ballot processing to protect JCDC’s interest in fair elections and to
protect the interests of its candidates, members and Jackson County voters. Such
appointed monitors are threatened with injuries arising from SB202’s prior
restraints on their First Amendment right of free speech and right to petition the
government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(a)(2)(B)(vi) and (vii) (2021) in the same
manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
373. Plaintiff JCDC will be deprived of the information required to act on
mail ballot processing problems or discrepancies because of its monitors’ restraints
on free speech.
374.

Plaintiff JCDC anticipates experiencing difficulty recruiting mail

ballot monitors because of SB202’s prohibition on monitors reporting problems or
discrepancies to JCDC.
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375.

Plaintiff JCDC’s members are threatened with injury arising from

SB202’s restriction of the time within which to apply for absentee-by-mail ballots,
including for a runoff, in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff
SHIRLEY.
376. SB202’s restriction of time to apply for mail ballots, and the
impossibility of doing so in certain runoffs, creates injury to JCDC’s efforts to
inform its voters of the complex rules, and to help get its candidates elected.
377. Plaintiff JCDC’s resources are being diverted from its day-to-day
operating activities and advocacy for its candidates to engage in this legal action to
protect its interests. Further, JCDC is diverting resources and will continue to do so
to educate its voters on the complex changes in the law that will impact how and
when they vote. Resources will be required to be diverted to attempt to explore
mitigating strategies to the voter intimidation that is certain to be experienced
because of the threat of felony allegations for observing display screens in the
polling place.
378. Because of the foregoing threatened injuries, each of JCDC’s
members described above would have standing to sue in their own right.
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E.

Plaintiff GAPPAC’s Associational Standing
Elements of GAPPAC’s Associational Standing

379. At least one of GAPPAC’s members has standing to sue each
Defendant on each of GAPPAC’s claim in the member’s own right.
380. The interests GAPPAC seeks to protect are germane to GAPPAC’s
organizational purpose.
381. The prospective injunctive and declaratory relief requested by
GAPPAC does not require the participation of GAPPAC’s individual members in
this lawsuit.
Individual Standing of Plaintiff Members of GAPPAC
382. Plaintiff NAKAMURA is a member of Plaintiff GAPPAC who has
standing to sue in her own right due to her threatened injuries-in-fact alleged
above.
Individual Standing of Non-Plaintiff Members of GAPPAC
383. Plaintiff GAPPAC has numerous members who are not named as
Plaintiffs in this litigation but who are registered Gwinnett and Fulton County
voters. Given the Defendants’ stated intentions to suspend or remove
superintendents like the Fulton County Board, Plaintiff GAPPAC’s members who
are Fulton County voters are threatened with injury in the form of the deprivation
of their right to attend and participate in public meetings of the Fulton County
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Board at which election administration and governance decisions for Fulton
County voters will be made.
384. Each of GAPPAC’s members who is a registered voter is threatened
with injuries arising from SB202’s prior restraints on their First Amendment right
of free speech and right to petition the government under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–
386(2)(B)(vii) (2021) and (vii) in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff
SHIRLEY.
385. Each of GAPPAC’s members who is a registered voter, in his or her
personal capacity as a voter, is threatened with prosecution for the Elector
Observation Felony in the same manner as is alleged above for Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
386. Each of GAPPAC’s members who is a registered voter and whose
personal information has been exposed as a result of the Secretary of State’s data
security failures is threatened with a substantial risk that his or her ballot—and thus
his or her right to vote—will be stolen in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff SHIRLEY.
387. Each of GAPPAC’s members who is a registered voter and who is
vulnerable to contracting COVID-19, or to being exposed to someone with
COVID-19, is threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the
window for absentee-by-mail ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged
above for Plaintiff NAKAMURA.
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388. Each of GAPPAC’s members who is a registered Georgia voter and
who wishes to vote in person, but experiences unforeseen medical or employment
demands in the 11 days prior to election day causing then to be absent from the
polls, is threatened with injury arising from SB202’s restriction of the window for
absentee-by-mail ballot applications in the same manner as is alleged above for
Plaintiff NAKAMURA.

389. Plaintiff GAPPAC has a number of members whose Georgia Driver’s
License numbers and Dates of Birth were disclosed to unknown persons in
repeated breaches of the Georgia Secretary of State’s elections server that occurred
in 2016 and 2017.
390. Plaintiff GAPPAC has members who are frightened to go to the
polling place because of the threat of purposely false and menacing felony
allegations against them as Asian Americans, alleging that they “intentionally
observed” another voters’ touchscreen machine.
391. GAPPAC, acting on behalf of members who are threatened with
imminent injury-in-fact and who would have standing in their own right, has
associational standing to bring each of its claims for prospective declaratory and
injunctive relief.
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392. Because of the foregoing threatened injuries, each of GAPPAC’s
members described above would have standing to sue in their own right.
F.

Causation

393. Each of the foregoing threatened injuries-in-fact to the Plaintiffs
alleged for purposes of standing is occurring, or is likely to occur, because and as a
result of the Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions.
G.

Redressability

394. Each of the foregoing threatened injuries-in-fact to the Plaintiffs
alleged for purposes of standing will be, or is likely to be, avoided in whole or in
part if the Plaintiffs are granted the prospective declaratory and injunctive relief
requested by this Complaint.
H.

Actual Controversy (Declaratory Relief)

395. Each of the foregoing threatened injuries-in-fact to the Plaintiffs
alleged for purposes of standing establishes the existence of a substantial
continuing controversy between Plaintiffs and Defendants, who have adverse legal
interests. Each of the threatened injuries-in-fact is sufficient to entitle the Plaintiff
who is threatened by it to seek and obtain declaratory judgment pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 2201.
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VII. CLAIMS
396. As used in the following counts, the “Board Member Plaintiffs” are
Plaintiffs LANG, PULLAR, MCNICHOLS, SHIRLEY AND THOMAS-CLARK;
the “Voter Plaintiffs” are the Board Member Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs CGG, JCDC,
GAPPAC, GRAHAM, MARTIN, DUFORT, NAKAMURA, and THROOP.
A.

TAKEOVER PROVISION CLAIMS
COUNT I
Violations of Procedural Due Process
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(The Board Member Plaintiffs against All Defendants)

397. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 are incorporated and restated here.
398. The Board Member Plaintiffs are members of county boards which
are “superintendents” under Georgia law.
399. The Board Member Plaintiffs have protected property and liberty
interests in their tenure as members of the county boards.
400. SB202’s Takeover Provisions violate the Board Member Plaintiffs’
rights under the procedural protections of the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process
Clause of the U.S. Constitution because the Takeover Provisions, among other
things:
120

Case 1:21-mi-99999-UNA Document 1533 Filed 05/17/21 Page 126 of 206

•

do not provide superintendent board members with the constitutional

minima of predeprivation notice and hearing prior to the removal of the
superintendent board members from office;
•

do not provide superintendent board members in their individual

capacities with any postdeprivation remedy for obtaining reinstatement to office
after a removal;
•

do not provide the superintendent board members acting through their

county boards with any meaningful postdeprivation remedy for obtaining
reinstatement because organizations that are parties to administrative hearings and
superior court proceedings must be represented by counsel, but the Takeover
Provisions bar any county board from engaging or paying for any counsel to
represent them.
401. SB202 also violates procedural due process in that it allows the SEB
to remove board members, like the Board Member Plaintiffs, based upon the action
or inaction of other current board members, or other former board members, and
not upon the action or inaction of the board members themselves.
402. County board members like the Board Member Plaintiffs are entitled,
at a bare minimum, prior to any deprivation of their liberty and any property
interests in their public office, to adequate notice of the grounds for suspension or
removal, the right to be heard in a full public hearing and to address the merits of
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the issues presented to an impartial tribunal, written findings based on substantial
evidence of their own action or inaction, judicial review, meaningful rights to
appeal, and the right to engage counsel at their employer county’s expense.
403. County board members like the Board Member Plaintiffs are also
entitled to a postdeprivation remedy, including adequate notice, the right to be
heard in a public hearing and to address the merits of the issues presented, written
findings based on substantial evidence of their own action or inaction, judicial
review, and the right to engage counsel at their employer county’s expense.
404. The Board Member Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent
injury and thus are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants
acting in their official capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §
1983.
405. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Board Member Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being
targeted by such enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants
and the Board Member Plaintiffs that entitles the Board Member Plaintiffs to seek
declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, the Board Member Plaintiffs respectfully request that this
Court enter the relief requested in the Prayer.
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COUNT II
Violations of Substantive Due Process
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(The Board Member Plaintiffs and the Voter Plaintiffs
against All Defendants)
406. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 are incorporated and restated here.
407. Violations of state statutes or constitutional laws implicating the very
integrity of the electoral process constitute a denial of substantive due process
under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.
408. The Takeover Provisions constitute a delegation of legislative
functions to the executive in violation of the Separation of Powers Clause of the
Georgia Constitution, Ga. Const. Art. I, § II, Para. III.
409. Under Georgia law, the Georgia General Assembly has the authority
to determine the election management body for each of Georgia’s 159 counties by
local acts. O.C.G.A. § 21-2-40. Pursuant to this authority, the General Assembly
has in 127 counties created three to five member boards of elections, or boards of
election and registration, as the “superintendents.” In the remaining 32 counties,
by default, the county probate judge is the superintendent, and a board of
registration conducts voter registration the issuance of absentee ballots. O.C.G.A.
§§ 21-2-212, 21-2-35(A).
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410. To change the election management body for a particular county, the
General Assembly must pass a new local act amending the prior law.
411. Determining the election management body for a county is a
legislative function, belonging solely to the General Assembly
412. Although determining the election management body for a particular
county is a legislative function, the Takeover Provisions grant to the SEB the
power to determine and change the election management body for any of
Georgia’s 159 counties. Unlike the legislative process, in the SEB’s takeover
process changing the election management body, citizens are afforded little notice
of such an important and drastic change and are granted no rights to participate in
the public hearing. Under the Takeover Provisions, the SEB may exercise this
power by making an unreviewable finding that a county or municipal
superintendent has “committed at least three violations” of Georgia’s election laws
or the State Election Board Rules, regardless of the materiality of the law allegedly
violated or the circumstances of their alleged violation. Thus, when it is exercising
its power to appoint a replacement supervisor for a county superintendent, the SEB
is exercising the functions of the legislature, in contravention of the Separation of
Powers Clause of the Georgia Constitution.
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413. SB202 allows the SEB to takeover a county election superintendent
upon a finding of three violation of Election Board Rules, which include minor
offenses, as examples, the following:
• failure to print an individual badge for each poll watcher. Rule 183-1-13.04;
• failure to swear in voting system programmers. Rule 183-1-12-.17;
• failure to conduct an hourly sweep of each voting station to find any
unauthorized materials left behind. Rule 183-1-12-.11(3));
• equipment storage room exceeded 80% humidity on rainy day. Rule 1831-12-.04(2).
414. The threshold for triggering the SEB’s power to replace a county
election superintendent is so low that the SEB for all practical purposes has the
power to select whatever counties it wants to take over and to rapidly change and
remove the entire election management body of any county in Georgia at will.
415. In addition, the SEB is itself empowered to make the very Election
Rules, the violation of which triggers the SEB’s power to exercise its (executive)
enforcement functions. This too constitutes an unconstitutional delegation to the
SEB of legislative power and a prohibited conflation of executive and legislative
functions.
416. SB202 further gives the SEB the power to select any county that has a
separate board of registration and remove such a board for no reason, with no
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provision for the appointment of a substitute board of registration, which would
shut down voter registration and stop the issuance of absentee ballots. Granting
the power to the State Election Board to effectively halt voter registration,
registration changes, and absentee balloting is a power that the General Assembly
does not have and certainly may not delegate.
417. Giving those in control of the State Government the power, through
the SEB, to select the county election superintendents and remove (but not replace)
boards of registrars threatens the very integrity of the electoral process in Georgia.
The SEB’s appointee, who will not be accountable to anyone, will have the power
to make many decisions that can influence citizens’ access to the polls and the
outcome of an election. For example, the appointee will have the power to
determine how many early and election day polling places there will be, where
they will be located, how much voting equipment to allocate to each site, whether
the county will offer Sunday voting or extended early voting hours, and how each
polling place will be staffed. In addition, the appointee will have the power to
determine which mail ballots to reject for arriving too late, and which provisional
ballots to count, and, ultimately, whether to certify the election results. Appointees
replacing a combined board of registration and elections will have the unilateral
power to hear and decide challenges to voter eligibility, a duty heretofore carefully
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delegated to a public body required to conduct deliberative public hearings on such
challenges.
418. Because delegating this power to the SEB violates the Separation of
Powers Clause of the Georgia Constitution and implicates the very integrity of the
electoral process, the Takeover Provisions constitute a denial of substantive due
process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.
419. The Takeover Provisions also violate Article II, Section 1, Paragraph
II of the Georgia Constitution, which provides: “The General Assembly shall
provide by law for the registration of voters.”
420. As discussed above, the Takeover Provisions allow the SEB to
remove a board of registration but do not provide any mechanism for the SEB (or
anyone else) to replace a board of registration. The Takeover Provisions thus give
the SEB the power to stop the registration of voters in a particular county by
removing the board of registrars, rather than providing for the registration of
voters, as the Georgia Constitution requires.
421. Plaintiffs, as residents of counties where the local superintendent is at
substantial risk of being targeted by Defendants’ invocation of the Takeover
Provisions, are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus are entitled to
prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their official capacities
under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
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422. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the substantial risk that Plaintiffs’ local superintendent
will be targeted by such enforcement, creates an actual controversy between
Defendants and Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiff to declaratory relief pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter the
relief requested in the Prayer.
B.

INDIVIDUAL FEDERAL CLAIMS
COUNT III
Violations of Substantive Due Process
& Fundamental Right to Vote
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(Voter Plaintiffs against All Defendants)

423. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 and 407 to 422 are incorporated
and restated here.
424. In counties where boards of registration are separate from boards of
election, boards of registration handle absentee ballot issuance, application
acceptance, ballot issuance, and ballot acceptance, and then turn the accepted
absentee ballots over to the election superintendent for counting.
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425.

By permitting the SEB to remove, but not replace, boards of

registration, the Takeover Provisions give the SEB the power to disenfranchise
voters who, in good faith reliance upon Georgia laws providing for absentee
voting, decide to vote absentee in a county where the SEB has decided to remove,
but cannot replace, the board of registration.
426. The Takeover Provisions allowing the SEB to remove, but not
replace, a board of registration violate the fundamental right to vote that is
protected by the substantive application of the Due Process Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution by imposing a burden on voting
that is not justified by any sufficiently weighty government interest.
427.

These provisions of SB202 are unconstitutional on their face and as

applied to the Voter Plaintiffs.
428. The Voter Plaintiffs, as residents of counties where the local
superintendent is at substantial risk of being targeted by Defendants’ invocation of
the Takeover Provisions, are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus are
entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their official
capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
429. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the substantial risk that Plaintiffs’ local superintendent
will be targeted by such enforcement, creates an actual controversy between

129

Case 1:21-mi-99999-UNA Document 1533 Filed 05/17/21 Page 135 of 206

Defendants and the Voter Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiffs to seek declaratory relief
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, the Voter Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter
the relief requested in the Prayer.
COUNT IV
Violations of Substantive Due Process
& Fundamental Right to Vote
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(Voter Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
430. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 are incorporated and restated here.
431. SB202’s “Elector Observation Felony” provision makes it a felony to
“intentionally observe an elector while casting a ballot in a manner that would
allow such person to see for whom or what the elector is voting.” O.C.G.A. § 21–
2–568.1 (2021).
432.

Given the large size of the Dominion BMD touchscreens, and small

size of many polling places, it is frequently not possible to vote in person without
appearing to commit this felony.
433. Figure 4 is a true and correct photograph of the inside of the Gwinnett
Elections Office polling place in Gwinnett County, Georgia, taken in early voting
in the March 2020, Presidential Primary.
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Figure 4. Gwinnett Elections Office Polling Place
434. Figure 5 is a true and correct photograph taken by an Atlanta Journal
Constitution photographer of the inside of the Cartersville polling place, in
Cartersville, Georgia, taken in early voting in October 2019, during the November
2019 election.
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Figure 5. Cartersville, Georgia Polling Place
435. Figure 6 is a true and correct photograph of the inside of the State
Farm Arena polling place in Fulton County, Georgia, taken in October 2020,
during early voting for the General Election.

Figure 6. State Farm Arena
132

Case 1:21-mi-99999-UNA Document 1533 Filed 05/17/21 Page 138 of 206

436. Any of the thousands of voters who entered these polling place to vote
could have been charged with the felony of “intentionally observ[ing] an elector
while casting a ballot in a manner that would allow such person to see for whom or
what the elector is voting.” Id. Had the Elector Observation Felony Provision been
in effect, they could not have voted in these polling places without a substantial risk
of arrest.
437. Had the Elector Observation Felony Provision been in effect, dozens
of members of the press and hundreds of poll workers could also have charged
with a felony merely by entering these polling places.
438. The Elector Observation Felony Provision violates the fundamental
right to vote that is protected by the substantive application of the Due Process
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution by imposing a
burden on voting that is not justified by any sufficiently weighty government
interest.
439. The Elector Observation Felony Provision is unconstitutional on its
face and as applied to the Voter Plaintiffs.
440. The Voter Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus
are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their
official capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
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441. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Voter Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by
such enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and the Voter
Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiffs to seek declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
2201.
WHEREFORE, the Voter Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court
enter the relief requested in the Prayer.
COUNT V
Violation of Due Process – Void for Vagueness
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(Voter Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
442. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 and 431 to 441 are incorporated
and restated here.
443. SB202’s Elector Observation Felony provision violates Due Process
because it is void for vagueness in that it potentially criminalizes any action in a
polling place, or even mere entry into a polling place, where elector’s choices on
the oversized Dominion BMD touchscreens are clearly displayed for anyone to
see.
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444. The Elector Observation Felony provision encourages arbitrary and
discriminatory enforcement and permits a standardless sweep that allows State
officials to pursue their personal agendas in violation of Due Process.
445. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Voter Plaintiffs.
446. The Voter Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus
are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their
official capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
447. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Voter Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by
such enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and the Voter
Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiffs to seek declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
2201.
WHEREFORE, the Voter Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court
enter the relief requested in the Prayer.
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COUNT VI
Unlawful Voter Intimidation
(52 U.S.C. § 10307)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(Voter Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
448. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396, 441 to 441, and 443 to 447, are
incorporated and restated here.
449. SB202’s Elector Observation Felony Provision can be invoked to
selectively criminalize mere entry into a polling place or even approaching a
polling place with large windows. The mere existence of the law will intimidate
voters.
450. The provision unlawfully intimidates voters because it gives law
enforcement officials the authority to charge voters arbitrarily and capriciously for
the felony intentionally observing another elector’s screen.
451. The provision also subjects voters to intimidation from persons who
are not governmental authorities. Any person who is hostile to the voter – for any
reason – can plausibly allege that the voter intentionally observed another elector
voting.
452. Most voters have limited ways to defend themselves against arbitrary
and capricious enforcement of such an allegation.
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453. The Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s Elector
Observation Felony accordingly will constitute unlawful voter intimidation under
color of law in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 10307.
454. This provision of SB202 is unlawful on its face and as applied to the
Voter Plaintiffs.
455. The Voter Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus
are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their
official capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
456. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unlawful provisions,
together with the Voter Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by such
enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and the Voter
Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiffs to seek declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
2201.
WHEREFORE, the Voter Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court
enter the relief requested in the Prayer.
COUNT VII
Violation of First Amendment
(U.S. Const. Amend. I)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(All Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
457. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 are incorporated and restated here.
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458. Each Plaintiff intended, until enactment of SB202, to serve as a
“monitor” or “observer” under O.C.G.A. § 21–2–386(2)(B)(vii), (the Gag Rule)
which prohibits “monitors” and “observers,” under penalty of criminal
misdemeanor, from “[c]ommunicating any information that they see while
monitoring the processing and scanning of the absentee ballots, whether
intentionally or inadvertently, about any ballot, vote, or selection to anyone other
than an election official who needs such information to lawfully carry out his or
her official duties.”
459. Plaintiffs do not challenge restrictions on the disclosure of
information about tallies of contests, including vote tally estimates and trends that
a monitor or observer obtains observing the processing of absentee ballot before
the close of the polls. SB202, however, criminalizes far more, and includes any
information about absentee ballot processing or scanning.
460. For example, if a monitor or observer (including the public and
members of the press) witnessed scanning machine malfunctions, unsecured
ballots, mishandling of ballots, or improperly rejected ballots, such information
must not be concealed from the Secretary of State, law enforcement, interested
parties and the public. Under SB202, however, if the monitor or observer reported
such discrepancies to someone other than the election official who was responsible
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for the failure, the monitor or observer would be potentially guilty of a criminal
misdemeanor.
461. The communications criminalized by SB202 occupy the core of
protection afforded by the First Amendment; they penalize conduct that constitutes
protected speech and petitioning of the government.
462. SB202’s prohibition on protected speech is a prior restraint that
violates the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.
463. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Plaintiffs.
464. Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus are
entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their official
capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
465. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by such
enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and Plaintiffs that
entitles Plaintiff to declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter the
relief requested in the Prayer.

139

Case 1:21-mi-99999-UNA Document 1533 Filed 05/17/21 Page 145 of 206

COUNT VIII
Violations of Due Process – Void for Vagueness
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(All Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
466. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 are incorporated and restated here.
467. The Estimating Ban, O.C.G.A. § 21–2–598(vi), makes it a
misdemeanor for “monitors and observers” to, among other things, tally, tabulate,
estimate, or attempt to tally, tabulate, or estimate, “whether partial or otherwise,
any of the votes on the absentee ballots cast.”
468. The Estimating Ban violates due process because it criminalizes the
act of thinking about or attempting to think about a tally or tabulation, without the
requirement of any external manifestation or communication of such thoughts.
469. The Estimating Ban is void for vagueness because it does not define
the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can
understand what conduct is prohibited.
470. The Estimating Ban is void for vagueness because it encourages
arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement and permits a standardless sweep that
allows election officials and other state actors to pursue their personal
predilections.
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471. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Plaintiffs.
472. Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus are
entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their official
capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
473. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by such
enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and Plaintiffs that
entitles Plaintiff to declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter the
relief requested in the Prayer.
COUNT IX
Violation of First Amendment
(U.S. Const. Amend. I)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(All Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
474. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 are incorporated and restated here.
475. The Photography Ban, O.C.G.A. §21-2-568.2 (2)(B), makes it a
misdemeanor to “[p]hotograph or record the face of an electronic ballot marker
while a ballot is being voted or while an elector’s votes are displayed on such
electronic market,” or to “[p]hotograph or record a voted ballot.”
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476. The Photography Ban violates the First Amendment because it
criminalizes constitutionally protected speech. Photographs of election officials
counting ballots and of voters in the act of voting has been an expected element of
routine election press coverage for well over 100 years across the world.
477. SB202’s prohibition on protected speech is a prior restraint that
violates the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.
478. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Plaintiffs.
479. Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus are
entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their official
capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
480. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by such
enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and Plaintiffs that
entitles Plaintiff to declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter the
relief requested in the Prayer.
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COUNT X
Violations of Due Process – Void for Vagueness
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(All Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
481. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 and 475 to 480 are incorporated
and restated here.
482. The Photography Ban is void for vagueness because it does not define
the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can
understand what conduct is prohibited.
483. The only reasonable prohibition on photography in polling places,
ballot counting operations, ballot adjudication, or election audits is one that
specifically and narrowly prevents the photography of electronic or hand marked
legible votes on ballots that can be connected to a specific voter. The vague ban on
photographing or “recording” a “voted ballot” is unjustified by any legitimate
government interest, given the fact that ballots are required to be “absolutely
secret” where no one may know who cast any individual ballot. For over 100
years, press photographers have published pictures of voted ballots and voters
standing at voting machines, but with appropriate prohibition on capturing the
votes on the face of the machine in the pre-BMD rare instance that another voter’s
votes could be seen.
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484. The Photography Ban is void for vagueness because it encourages
arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement and permits a standardless sweep that
allows election officials and other state actors to pursue their personal
predilections. It may ensnare citizens conducting routine activities who have no
intention of or ability to connect a voter and a ballot. For example, required video
surveillance of polling places may capture images of ballots and faces of
touchscreens. Video interviews of poll officials in the polling place or mail ballot
processing locations may easily capture innocuous but prohibited images of voted
ballots and machines.
485. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Plaintiffs.
486. Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus are
entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their official
capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
487. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by such
enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and Plaintiffs that
entitles Plaintiff to declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter the
relief requested in the Prayer.
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COUNT XI
Violations of Substantive Due Process
& Fundamental Right to Vote
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(By the Voter Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
488. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 are incorporated and restated here.
489. The Relaxed Voter ID Rule, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-381(a)(1)(C)(i),
changes the identification that voters must provide to be issued an absentee ballot
from a verifiable signature to the voter’s name, date of birth, address, and voter’s
Georgia’s driver’s license or identification.
490. Because of the massive breaches of the Secretary of State’s election
servers in the past, the information that is now required to obtain one or more
absentee ballots which will be accepted and counted is available to anyone bent on
voting illegally. As a consequence, there is a substantial risk that the Voter
Plaintiffs will be disenfranchised.
491. This provision violates the fundamental right to vote that is protected
by the substantive application of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution by imposing a burden on voting that is not
justified by any sufficiently weighty government interest.
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492. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Voter Plaintiffs.
493. The Voter Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus
are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their
official capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
494. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Voter Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by
such enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and the Voter
Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiffs to seek declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
2201.
WHEREFORE, the Voter Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court
enter the relief requested in the Prayer.
COUNT XII
Violations of Substantive Due Process
& Fundamental Right to Vote
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(By the Voter Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
495. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396 and 489 to 494 are incorporated
and restated here.
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496. SB202’s unreasonable narrowing of the absentee-by-mail ballot
application window violates the fundamental right to vote that is protected by the
substantive application of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to
the U.S. Constitution by imposing a burden on voting that is not justified by any
sufficiently weighty government interest.
497. The ability to vote by absentee ballot is essential for many voters
because of the traditional reasons of age, health, travel, or employment related
conflicts.
498.

Georgia voters who desire to exercise their constitutional right to a

secret ballot are not offered that option in the polling place and must vote by
absentee ballot, making it crucial that absentee ballots are fully available to all
voters.
499. Given the intimidation of the polling place as a result of the threat of
prosecution for the Elector Observation Felony, all voters must be given a fair
opportunity to obtain an absentee ballot.
500. The 11-day pre-election day deadline denies the right to vote by
absentee ballot in most recounts for elections in which the Secretary of State
certifies the election result on the certification deadline.
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501. The 11-day pre-election day deadline denies the right to vote to voters
who experience unexpected conflicts and cannot be present at the polling place to
vote.
502. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Voter Plaintiffs.
503. The Voter Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus
are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their
official capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
504. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Voter Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by
such enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and the Voter
Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiff to declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, the Voter Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court
enter the relief requested in the Prayer.
COUNT XIII
Violation of Equal Protection Clause
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(By the Voter Plaintiffs against all Defendants)
505. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396, 489 to 494 and 496 to 504 are
incorporated and restated here.
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506. SB202’s narrowing of the absentee-by-mail ballot application window
violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S.
Constitution because, it treats identifiable classes of voters differently than other,
similarly situated voters and creates a substantial risk that some voters’ votes will
be less effective as a result.
507. The identifiable classes of voters who are disadvantaged by the
narrowed window for mail ballot applications include:
• voters requiring an absentee ballot in a state office runoff;
• voters wishing to exercise their right to vote a secret ballot;
• voters who are intimidated by the risk of the Elector Observation
Felony;
• voters who encounter unforeseen medical, employment, or civic duty
obligations after the 11-day deadline;
• voters who must mail their runoff election ballot applications from
long distances; and
• voters who are at a high risk of COVID-19 infection and cannot be
vaccinated or who are quarantined.
508. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Voter Plaintiffs.
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509. The Voter Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus
are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their
official capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
510. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by such
enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and the Voter
Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiff to declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.
WHEREFORE, the Voter Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court
enter the relief requested in the Prayer.
COUNT XIV
Violation of Equal Protection Clause
(U.S. Const. Amend. XIV)
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(By the Voter Plaintiffs against All Defendants)
511. The foregoing Paragraphs 1 to 396, 489 to 494, 496 to 504, and 506 to
510 are incorporated and restated here.
512. SB202’s narrowing of the absentee-by-mail ballot application window
violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S.
Constitution because, in the circumstances of the present COVID-19 pandemic,
restricting the pre-existing window for absentee-by-mail voting exposes an
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identifiable class of voters to arbitrary and disparate risk of being completely
disenfranchised.
513. This provision of SB202 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied
to the Voter Plaintiffs.
514. The Voter Plaintiffs are at substantial risk of imminent injury and thus
are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendants acting in their
official capacities under color of state law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
515. Defendants’ intended enforcement of SB202’s unconstitutional
provisions, together with the Voter Plaintiffs’ substantial risk of being targeted by
such enforcement, creates an actual controversy between Defendants and the Voter
Plaintiffs that entitles Plaintiffs to seek declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
2201.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter the
relief requested in the Prayer.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:
A.

Enter a judgment finding and declaring that the challenged provisions

of SB202 violate the U.S. Constitution or 52 U.S.C. § 10307, or both, on their face
and as applied to the Plaintiffs.
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B.

Enter a preliminary and permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants

SEB Members from enforcing the challenged provisions of SB202;
F.

Retain jurisdiction to ensure all Defendants’ ongoing compliance with

the foregoing Orders;
G.

Grant the Plaintiffs an award of their reasonable attorney’s fees, costs,

and expenses incurred in this action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and
H.

Grant the Plaintiffs such other relief as the Court deems just and

proper.
The 17th day of May, 2021.
/s/ Bruce P. Brown
Bruce P. Brown
Georgia Bar No. 064460
BRUCE P. BROWN LAW LLC
1123 Zonolite Rd. NE
Suite 6
Atlanta, Georgia 30306
(404) 881-0700
bbrown@brucepbrownlaw.com

/s/ Cary Ichter
Cary Ichter
Georgia Bar No. 382515
ICHTER DAVIS LLC
3340 Peachtree Road NE
Suite 1530
Atlanta, Georgia 30326
(404) 869-7600
CIchter@Ichterdavis.com

/s/ Greg K. Hecht
Greg K. Hecht
Georgia Bar No. 003860
HECHT WALKER, P.C.
Suite B
Stockbridge, Georgia 30281
(404) 348-4881
greg@hmhwlaw.com

/s/Shea E. Roberts
Shea E. Roberts
Georgia Bar No. 608874
GIACOMA ROBERTS & DAUGHDRILL LLC
945 East Paces Rd.
Suite 2750
Atlanta, Georgia 30326
(404) 924-2850
sroberts@grdlegal.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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